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CHAPTER I

The Nether or Low Lands

Holland, as it is known today, along with Belgium, once formed
a part of the Low or Netherlands, called so because almost half
of the country was below sea level. It was a land of marshes
and bogs, separated from the North Sea by a chain of dunes. Its
inhabitants lived on those dunes and on the hillier regions to the
east. The rest of Holland was in constant danger of being
flooded and for centuries the Netherlanders built dykes and sea
walls to prevent the sea from encroaching upon their land.

The Netherlands comprised a group of autonomous duchies,
counties and cities which in the eighth century were the neg-
lected north-western limits of the Frankish king, Charlemagne.
By the end of the twelfth century, they were annexed to the
dukedom of Saxony. The area to the south, roughly modern
Belgium, was ruled by the dukes of Burgundy. By marriage, by
purchase or by war the House of Burgundy accumulated a
number of duchies and counties until they were able to rule
over the whole of the Netherlands.

Charles thes Rah of Burgundy died in 1477. He was succeed-
ed by his daughter Mary who had married Maximilian of
Hapsburg. Their son, known as Philip the Handsome (1482-13506),
married Jeanne or Joanna, heiress of Ferdinand of Aragon and
Isabella of Castile, which brought Spain and her South American
colonies into the Hapsburg dominions. Philip’s son was crowned
Charles V of Spain and Emperor of Germany, and the Nether-
lands passed under Spanish rule.

The Reformation, in the meanwhile had spread out from
Germany, and the Lowlands adjacent to the German states were
quickly affected by the Lutheran movement. The northern
Netherlands had several great cities with a large and affluent
middle class, sufficiently educated to appreciate the need for
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religious reform. There were, however, no independent princes
to take these new beliefs under their protection; and though q
Protestantism continued to exist, it was only 1n its extreme and
fanatical forms, mainly Anabaptist. It is doubtful whether these
fanatics would have survived the severe persecution of Philip 11, |
if it were not for the sudden influx of Calvinist missionaries
from Geneva. Their zeal stiffened the resistance of the Protest-
ants, especially in the northern provinces.

In 15535 Charles V abdicated in favour of his son Philip II.
Persecution of religious dissenters was intensified. The cffice of
the Holy Inquisition was established. Many escaped into hiding
or exile, later to return as the Sea-Beggars.

The first revolt against Spanish oppression was crushed by
the duke of Alva and the counts of Egmont and Hoorn were
executed on 35 June 1568. Four years later, the Sea-Beggars
captured Den Briel, which was followed by a surge of rebeilion
in the states of Holland and Zeeland.

In 1579, the seven northern provinces, Holland, Zeeland,
Utrecht, Guelderland, Overijssel, Groningen and Frniesland,
bound themselves to unite ‘to all eternity’ and to act as a single
state. When the crowns of Spain and Portugal were combined
in the person of Philip II in the following year, the delegates of
these states, the States-General, led by Prince William of
Orange, the Stadtholder of Holland, Zeeland and Utrecht, re-
nounced their allegiance to Spain. The seven United Provinces
had no sovereign and hence the authority of these provinces was
vested in the States-General and their principal official, the
Stadtholder, who was in effect their leader.

The prince of Orange was outlawed by Philip and eventually
assassinated in 1584. The duke of Parma was sent to wipe out
the heretics in the Netherlands. During the siege and capture of
Antwerp, a number of weaithy Calvinists migrated to the north.
The Dutch sent envoys to England to seek the Protestant queen’s
help, offering her the sovereignty of the United Provinces.
Elizabeth I, though she sympathised with the rebellious Dutch,
was reluctant to become involved in open war with Philip. In
1585 the ear] of Leicester was deputed to act as supreme civil
and military authority in the Netherlands. Leicester, however,
lacked the ability of holding the seven provinces together in their
struggle against Spain. His abortive governor generalship did not
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The Nether or Low Lands 3

last long and in the following year the Dutch people elected
Prince Maurice, the second son of Prince William, as Stadt-
holder of the United Provinces.

The position of the House of Orange in the northern Nether-
lands was unique. As Stadtholder (a term originally denoting
a medieval overlord’s locum tenens, of one or more provinces
and virtual commander-in-chief of the armed forces), the prince
was the servant of the provincial states and of the States-General.
The princes of Orange, owing to their birth, wealth, prestige and
military prowess became the focus of a monarchist sentiment
among the upper classes, who hankered after a court life and a
crowned head. They were also popular with the lower classes,
who had more respect for a prince of the blood than for a
merchant prince. Though later severe resentment was shown
against these princes, the Dutch people invariably turned to the
House of Orange in times of crisis and acute danger.

The States-General was an assembly of the delegates of the
seven provinces. They acted entirely on the instructions they
teceived from their respective provinces, and formulated the
foreign policy of the Netherlands. It was the Dutch method to
show a united front to the outside world. Any resolution which
affected the Union as a whole had to be voted unanimously to
be valid and no province was obliged to obey an order of the
States-General if its own delegation had not given its authorised
consent to it. The States-General was the only national adminis-
trative body of the Dutch Republic. It had difficulty in
functioning propetly when provincial interests clashed. In times

of crisis or deadlock, a strong man or an influential group had
to take the lead, which was usually supported by the province
of Holland, the richest of the provinces, and the House of
‘Orange. Holland, which often meant Amsterdam, usually took
the lead, and exercised this leadership through its highest offi-
cial, the grand pensionary or legal counsellor. When the prince of
Holland and the grand pensionary cooperated, the States-
(eneral and the provincial states could be induced to follow a
pre-determined policy. When there was friction it resulted in
permanent jealousy between Holland and Zeeland, or between
both of them and the other five provinces.

It was during the Stadtholdership of Prince Maurice when
Johan van Oldenbarnevelt was grand pensionary, the maritime
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trade of the Dutch expanded to the Mediterranean, West
Africa and the Indian Ocean. The competing pioneer companies
were amalgamated into one monopolistic corporation, and

Portuguese supremacy of the Eastern Seas was openly
challenged.

The southern provinces which had remained faithful to
Catholicism, or rather, had been subdued by Philip 1I, were

entrusted to his daughter Isabella and her husband Albert,
Archduke of Austria,

The year 1609 saw the commencement of the Ten Years
Truce between the United Provinces and Spain, but the rivairy
hetween the Dutch and the Portuguese in the East continued un-
abated. Even when Catalonia and Portugal revolted from Spain
in 1640, and the duke of Braganza was crowned King John IV
of Portugal, the Dutch preferred not to forget the persecution
they had suffered, and the damage done to their trade by the
closure of the Iberian ports in 1585, 1595 and 1597. They con-
tinued to openly attack Portuguese shipping and interrupt their
trade and communications at Mozambigque, Goa and the
Moluccas.

Spain recognised Dutch independence in 1648, which brought
to an end what was known as the Eighty Years War—the revolt
which had started in 1568. Francisco de Souza e Coutinho, the
Portuguese ambassador at the Hague, wrote to his master that
the Dutch celebrated the event by ‘simply reading the articles of
the Treaty in the Supreme Court of Justice at 10 o’clock in the
morning of the fifth of this month (June), as at that time eighty
years ago the counts of Egmont and Hoorn had been executed
by the Duke of Alva in Brussels; and the States wishes their
freedom to begin at the same day and time as these two gentle-
men had died in defence thereof.’

The seven northern provinces had not only secured complete
independence; they were also the possessors of a maritime and
commercial empire which now surpassed that of the Portuguese,
and rivalled that of the Spaniards. Instead of being ruled by a
Hapsburg king, the free Netherlands were governed by a
burgher-oligarchy, whose first servant was the wealthy and influ-
ential William 11, Prince of Orange, the grandson of that hunted
fugitive of 1568. The ‘motley levies’ whom Alva had so easily
crushed 80 years ago, had been succeeded by a disciplined army;
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the navy which had not existed before was the best in the
Atlantic, having destroyed the Spanish Armada on 21 October
1639. Amsterdam had replaced Antwerp as the most prosperous
and influential city in Europe. Its name was known in remote
parts of the world that had never heard of London, Paris and
Venice. Justifiably, the bells of Amsterdam pealed with joy while
fireworks, illuminations and bonfires lit up the night of 5 June
1648,

William II died two years later, and except for Groningen and
Friesland, the office of Stadtholder was abolished. Johan de
Witt was appointed grand pensionary and leader of the republic,
a position he held for the next 12 years.

The years 1672 to 1674 were a period of turmoil in the
Netherlands—the Third Anglo-Dutch War, the invasion of the
southern regions by Louis XIV of France and the murder of
Johan de Witt and his brother Jakob. Once more the Dutch
people rallied round the prince of Orange. The Stadtholdership
was established in favour of William III, who having married
the daughter of the duke of York, became King William III of
England. |

The death of the King-Stadtholder in 1702 brought about the
second Stadtholderless period. The Dutch were now involved n
the Wars of the Spanish Succession (1702-13) and of the
Austrian Succession (1747-48). The internal conflict between the
oligarchy of the ruling class and the people, who took as their
champion a member of the House of Orange, led to the Stadt-
holdership of all seven provinces being offered to Prince William
IV, and the office being made hereditary in that family. The
death of William IV brought about the resumption of regent
oligarchic rule during the minority of his son. Rivalry between
the pro- and anti-Orange factions, which had long been smould-
ering, grew steadily worse when William V assumed the
Stadtholdership in 1766. The political situation in the Nether-

lands continued to deteriorate until the king of Prussia, whose
daughter was married to William V, intervened by attacking and
capturing Amsterdam, and restoring full powers to the Stadt-

holder. During this troubled period thousands of ‘patriots’ fled
to France.

Revolution in France in 1793 brought an invasion of the
Dutch Republic, which was checked at Neerwinden. The subse-

Marfat.com



6 The Dutch in India

quent invasion in 1794-95 was virtually unopposed, due to
severe frost in the Netherlands. The Stadtholder took refuge in
England and the old regime collapsed. The ‘patriots’, seeing a
resemblance between the rule of the Stadtholder and that of the
French monarchy, reorganised the seven United Provinces on
the pattern of France, under the style of the Batavian Republic.
The Batavian Republic formally dissolved the Dutch East India
Company in 1799 and took over its debts and possessions. But
the British had already seized the Dutch colonies and territories
in the East on the strength of a letter addressed by the Stadt-

holder to all the Company’s merchants, governors, directors and
commanders.

The destiny of the southern Lowlands was even more
chequered. It became the battlefield of Europe between the
Hapsburgs and the Bourbons, was absorbed into the French
Republic, and returned to Austria, only to be invaded by France
In 1795, when its connections with the Hapsburgs finally ended.
Constitution followed constitution, as in France till the Treaty
of Amiens. 3

In 1803, war broke out again, and Napoleon who was
‘reorganising’ Europe, made his brother Louis king of Holland.
When Louis abdicated in 1810, Holland was annexed to the
French empire. The defeat of Napoleon saw the return of
Prince William who was crowned king of the united Nether-
lands, Holland and modern Belgium, in Brussels in 1815, Most
of the Dutch settlements and factories which had been taken
over by the English were restored, but the Netherlands made no
effort or attempt to revive them. In 1825 they reverted to the
English, when all Dutch influence 1n the sub-continent ended.

Behind the scenes, in the Netherlands, the old religious
differences were still very much alive. In 1830, a revolt broke
out in the southern provinces, which ceded from the Union, and
offered the crown of Belgium to Leopold of Saxe-Coburg.
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CHAPTER II

Dutch Maritime Trade

The realms of trade and commerce had always been important
to the Dutch. The story goes that in 1384, Willem Beukelszoon
of Biervliet in Zeeland, found a method of curing herrings,
whereby seafood became a marketable commodity. The process
required salt and Beukelszoon being a fisherman, set out to
fetch it from Lisbon. Salt suppliers asked for grain in return,
which was procured from the Baltic. This marked the beginning
of organised commerce in the Netherlands. By the middle of the
fifteenth century, the Dutch themselves admitted that the pro-
vinces of Holland and Zeeland were founded entirely on
maritime trade.

While the people of Flanders and Brabant were merchants
dealing in staple commodities, the Hollanders and Zeelanders
were seafarers. Many of the towns of Holland became members
of the Hanseatic League. They did not confine themselves to the
transport of goods from their own regions to the staple markets,
but were just as ready to ship cargo elsewhere. In the Baltic
they competed with the Prussian and Wendic trading cities
which eventually involved them in the Hanseatic War of
1438-41.

Nothing could stop their development of trade, and by the end
of the fifteenth century the merchants and mariners of Holland
and Zeeland were in control of the cargo trade from the Baltic
to the Mediterranean. Not only had they been granted the right
of free passage to all Turkish ports, but a number of Dutchmen
indulged in large-scale piracy on the Barbary coast.

It must be remembered that in the northern Lowlands, there
was little land, and what there was, was highly priced for rent
or sale. Consequently, many people of moderate means invested
their savings in buying shares in ships, in the fishing industry,
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8 The Dutch in India

in trading voyages or in land reclamation schemes. A unique |
feature of Dutch maritime trade was the rederij whereby a group

of people would join together to buy, build, charter a ship and
1ts carco, a part-owner usually being the master himself who was
personally interested in the sale of the cargo. Individual reders
would contribute varying amounts of capital according to their
station, ranging from wealthy merchants to deck hands.

This system caused a widespread investment in shipping and
integrated the maritime and mercantile communities. In Holland
and Zeeland most of the town councillors were shipowners, and
were directly interested in the profits from the grain, timber,
wine, fruit, salt and fishing industries which their vessels served.
Moreover, the geographical position of the Lowlands gave the
Dutch easy access to the markets of England, Germany and
France, besides Denmark and other parts of the Baltic. This sea-
borne trade gave the town councillors and the so-called regent
class from which they were drawn, considerable political and
€CONnOoIMIC POWeEr,

In a petition of the state of ,Holland to Charles V in 1543,
this economic development was explained. ‘It is noticeably true
that the province of Holland is a very small country, small in
length and even smaller in breadth and almost enclosed by the
sea on three sides. It must be protected from the sea by recla-
mation works which involve heavy expenditure for dykes, sluices,
mill races, windmills and polders. Moreover, the said province
of Holland contains many dunes, bogs and lakes which grow
dailv more expensive, as well as barren districts unfit for crops
and pastures. Wherefore the inhabitants of the said country, n
order to make a living for themselves and their families must
maintain themselves by handicrafts and trades in suchwise that
they fetch raw materials from foreign lands and re-export finish-
ed products, including diverse sorts of cloth and draperies to
many places, such as the kingdoms of Spain, Portugal and
Gernmany, Scotland and especially to Denmark, the Baltic,
Norway and other regions, whence they return with goods and
merchandise from those parts, notably wheat and other grains.
Conscquently, the main business of the community must needs
be in shipping and in related trades from which a great many
people earn their living, like merchants, skippers, masters, pilots,
sailors, shipwrights and all those connected therewith. These
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Dutch Maritime Trade 9

men navigate, import and export all sorts of merchandise hither
and yon, and those goods they bring here, they sell and vend 1n
the Netherlands, as in Brabant, Fianders and other neighbour-
ing places.’

The shipowners of Holland and Zeeland loudly claimed that
they had secured the lion’s share of the carrying trade of Europe
due to their lower freights and superior techniques. Admittedly,
the evolution of the ‘Auit’ or ‘fly boat’ which was manned by a
relatively small crew, yet carried a bulky cargo was one contri-
buting factor to the profitability of the maritime trade of the
shipowners. However, what was Dot revealed was that they gave
their crews less rations in quantity and quality, and employed
¢«six men for the work normally performed by ten’. It was these
techniques which enabled the Dutch to offer lower freight rates
than any other nation in Europe. Fortunately, underfeeding and
overworking was not felt when the crews sailed 1n European
waters. Skippers and shipowners could always man their ships
with low paid and frugally fed sailors, because not only were
Dutch seamen available in abundance, but many German and
Scandinavian sailors also came to the Dutch provinces in search
of work, lured by the ‘sweet smell of profit’.

The lot of the Dutch working class, which included the sea-
faring communities, was distressingly hard. A large section living
on the brink of penury, was liable to frequent unemployment,
and being dependent on ill-paid labour, had no means of saving
money. They lived in squalor in overcrowded slums, in condi-
tions which were no worse than what existed in England at the
same period. Child labour, for instance, was commion, even
though it was loudly denounced. What was howeaver noticeable

was the existence of alms-houses, poorhouses, orphanages aund
hospitals in the United Provinces, particularly in the port cities.
In spite of these distressing conditions at home, Dutchmen could
never be induced, even in the seventeenth century and after, to
migrate or settle in their possessions overseas.

The lot of the seafaring people was even worse. The long cold
winters when harbours were closed for considerable periods,
caused seasonal unemployment. Rumours of wars and periodic

embargoes on Dutch ships in the Iberian ports aggravated the
frequency of this unemployment. Though more and more ships
were built and larger fleets sailed from Dutch harbours, there

Mérfat.coﬁﬂi



10 The Dutch in India

was never a shortage of sailors. A Dutch skipper could always
and easily muster a crew for ships sailing in the European seas.
Consequently the maritime trade of the Netherlands increased
and prospered.

By the end of the sixteenth century the Dutch had secured
three-quarters of the traffic in Baltic grain, between half and
three-quarters of the traffic in timber and between a third and a
half of that in Swedish wood. Three-quarters of the salt from
France and Portugal that went to the Baltic was carried in Dutch
bottoms, and more than half of the cloth imported into the
Baltic areas was made or finished in Holland, The North Sea
fisheries for herring, haddock, cod and ling were ‘the chiefest
trade and gold mine’, the value of the catch being in the vicinity
of eight million florins. It was estimated to employ over a thou-
sand fishing smacks of about 50 tons burden while the fishing
and ancillary industries gave employment to nearly 450,000
persons. The fishing industry was supervised and controlled by
the gwids and government regulations. This ensured the high
standard of herrings barrelled fgr export, and of the fresh and
smoked fish which was widely eaten in the country where only
the rich ate meat more than once a week. The grain trade of
the Baltic engaged about 1200 vessels and the Dutch ships pass-
ing the Sound, outnumbered those of the English by thirteen
to one. The Arctic whaling industry also employed 260 ships
and 14,000 seamen. In addition, they were the largest dealers in
spices, pepper, sugar, porcelain and trade wind beads, which
they imported and distributed from Spanish and Portuguese
pOTrts.

Maritime insurance also underwent a change. A Chamber of
Assurance was organised in 1598, which supervised the regis-
tration of policies and settled disputes, arising from claims.
Amsterdam handled a considerable volume of insurance includ-
ing foreign business and retained its leadership in maritime
insurance until well into the eighteenth century.

And so the provinces of Holland and Zeeland (the remaining
five being of hardly any importance in the present context),
became the nucleus of a maritime federation which made the
Netherlands the principal seafaring nation of the world.

Spanish persecution had caused many merchants to migrate
to these provinces, while members of their families settled in
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other lands from the Baltic to the Levant. It was due to these
expatriate merchants that the Dutch were able to expand their
already prosperous trade, first to the Mediterranean, West Africa
and the Gold Coast, and then to the South Atlantic and Brazil.
The extent of their trade in West Africa can be judged from the
fact that almost all the gold coins of the Netherlands were at one
time minted from gold brought from Guinea.
The confiscation of their cargoes and ships by Philip II and
the closure of the Iberian ports in 1585, 1595 and 1597 prompt-
d the Dutch to search for the sources from which these goods
came. It was about this time Jan Huighen van Linschoten return-
ed to the Netherlands.
Van Linschoten, who came to {ndia 1n 1583 as the secretary
to the archbishop of Goa, was a contemporary of the English-
man, Thomas Stephens, the rector of the Jesuit College there n
1579. The letters which Stephens wrote to his father describing
the exotic produce of the East Indies, are said to have created a
desire on the part of English merchants to trade directly in the
East. Van Linschoten, on the other hand, was a great believer In
Dutch enterprise. When he returned home in 1589, he carried
sufficient proof to indicate that the Portuguese claim to be lords
of the ‘conquest, navigation and commerce of Ethiopia, India,
Arabia and Persia’ was not as effective as the title assumed by
King Manuel Iin 1501, particularly in the unguarded areas in
the vicinity of the Sunda Straits and the island of Java in Indo-
nesia, where the Portuguese had no effective control.
It however needed more than commercial ability and enter-
prise to be successful in venturing beyond the Cape of Good
Hope, and in this respect the Dutch gained ascendancy over all
other European nations, including the Portuguese, Spaniards and
'5 Venetians, who had more than a two hundred-year start over
‘ them. The production of navigation manuals and atlases, maps
and charts gave the Dutch a supremacy in this field which lasted
for a century. In all the Dutch seaports, there were a number of
old sailors who taught the science of navigation to aspiring
young mariners, particularly in the winter months when the
ships were laid up and the harbours closed. There were also men
who had never been to sea but had systematically studied mathe-
matics and theoretical navigation. The Dutch were also fortunate
in having Petrus Plancius, a Calvinist minister who had fled from
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12 The Dutch in India

Flanders and settled in Amsterdam. Plancius was a well-known

geographer who had published a map of the world based on data
obtained from the Portuguese.

When van Linschoten returned, the Dutch were well-equipp-
ed to challenge the Portuguese supremacy of the Eastern Seas,
and to enter the coveted marts of Malaysia and Indonesia, the
monopoly of which the Portuguese had claimed on the strength
of a series of papal bulls and briefs of fifteenth and sixteenth
century origin,

In March 1394 nine merchants organised a ‘Company of Far
Lands’ at Amsterdam with the object of sending two fleets to
Indonesia for spices. The first fleet commanded by Cornelius
Houtman was badly organised. Out of the four ships and 249
men, only three vesscls and 89 men returned to Texel in 1597.
The modest cargo of pepper however, which they had brought
back from Bantam, more than covered the cost of the voyage,
and the pent-up energy of the Dutch commercial classes burst
as if a dyke had been breached. In the following year, 22 ships
owned by five different and largely rival companies sailed from
Dutch ports. One, commanded® by Oliver van Noort, took the
South American and Pacific route, becoming the first Dutch
voyage round the world. The most encouraging results were
achieved by the fleet owned by the Far Lands Company of
Amsterdam which was commanded by Jakob van Neck. The fleet
returned after a 15-month absence with a large and valuable
cargo of spices. Never had such richly laden ships been seen in
Holland. The officers and merchants were given a civic recep-
tion, while the bells of Amsterdam pealed with joy. The investors
had good reason to be satisfied, as the return on capital amount-
ed to 400 per cent.

Not all the ships and companies achieved the success of van
Neck’s voyage, and of the 22 vessels mentioned above, only 14
returned. Yet the lure of the spice trade was such that 14 fleets
totalling 65 vessels sailed for the East Indies in 1601. It soon be-
came apparent that the rivalry between the companies caused an
ncrease in the purchase prices in Asia and lowered sale prices
in Europe. The companies were organised on a regional basis
and the competition between those of Holland and Zeeland was
particularly savage. Furthermore their mutual jealousy made it
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impossible for them to cooperate to secure the new trade against
the Portuguese.

On 24 March 1602, on the initiative of the grand pensionary,
van Oldenbarnevelt, the States-General succeeded in getting all
these companies to amalgamate as the United East India Com-
pany, the Vereenigde Oost-Indische Compagnie, known as the
VOC, with a capital of 6.500,000 florins. The new Company had
six regional chambers of boards which were established at
Amsterdam, Middelbureg. Delft, Rotterdam, Hoorn and Einkhui-
zen. the former seats of the pioneer companies.

Under the charter granted by the States-General to the Dutch

East India Company,* the VOC was given the monopoly of
trade east of the Cape of Good Hope and west of the Straits of
Magellan, for an initial period of 21 years. The Company
through its 17 directors, variously referred to as ‘Hecren XVID
or the ‘Seventeen’ or ‘XVIL’ was empowered to conclude treaties
with foreign powers, build fortresses, factories and strongholds,
and wage war against the Portuguese in the Indies, who, under
papal authority had claimed the sovereignty of the Eastern Seas.
The Seventeen were also empowered to enlist civilian, naval and
military personnel who would take an oath of loyalty to the
Company, as well as to the States-General, Powerful fleets of 12
vessels sailed from the Netherlands each year. While their main
purpose was to trade in the Indian Ocean, they did not hesitate
to attack the Portuguese at Mozambique, Goa and Malacca,
thereby disrupting and hindering communications between these
ports.

The VOC was a unique organisation; its shareholders had no
control over the managing body, the Seventeen. No accounts
were published, neither were minutes written. Its national char-
acter was a material factor in 1ts commercial success, and 1ts
superiority over the English for over a hundred years, was due
to its financial strength, the large permanent capital of sixand a
Lalf million florins, sound administration, a higher level of cap-
acity of its staff and the recognition of priorities. It had already
six years experience, and its officials were known as customers
and buyers in most of the Asiatic seaports, when the first Eng-
lish ships reached Java. In every action, the Dutch company
acted as a single body, ready to stake everything for 1ts own

* A company for trading in the West Indies was formed in 1621.
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well-being and success, and it acted with the full knowledge that ,
the government of the United Provinces stood behind it. Even
when the States-General condemned the VOC’s action in the
affair at Amboina in 1622, they still preferred to retain what they
had gained, rather than satisfy the demands of the English. The
same was the case when they captured Cochin and Cannaanore
many years later, during the pendency of the truce with Portu-
gal, which stipulated that all conquests should be restored to their
former possessors. It had been given wide powers by the state,
so wide that 1t became a state within a state. The government
of the Netherlands soon discovered that they could neither ven-
ture to curb it nor to break it. So sure did the Seventeen feel of
themselves that they told the States-General in 1644, ‘the places
and strongholds which had been captured in the East should
not be regarded as national conquests, but as the property of
private individuals, who are entitled to sell these places to whom-
soever they wished, even if it was to the King of Spain or to
some other enemy of the United Provinces.’

The VOC was quick to realise that a strong centralised admin-
istration was essential in the?East and soon established a
headquarters, first at Bantam where they routed the Portuguese,
and later at Batavia where they concentrated all their resources.
Added to all this, was the emergence of really great men like
Jan Pieterszoon Coen who, as director general of trade and later
as governor general from 1618 to 1623 and again from 1627 to
1629, dominated the Eastern Seas much like de Albuquerque had
done a century earlier, and Dupleix and Clive in the century to
follow, in India.

The Council of Batavia stood out as a body of highly efficient
administrators; its chain of responsibility was strict. Each of the

“chiefs at such centres as Pulicat, Surat and Taiwan were directly
responsible for the successful and profitable operations of the
factories under his control. Periodical inspections by senior offi-
cials were carried out to examine the working of the outlying
establishments, control abuses, maintain discipline, as well as to
develop and extend trade on the most profitable lines.
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CHAPTER III

The Lure of the East

Recognised trade routes covered most of northern India as far
back as the sixth century B.C. and by Mauryan times these were
linked to the caravan routes of the peninsula. The main route
ran from the Ganges port of Tamralipti, not far from modern
Calcutta, through Patna and Kausambi, near the city of
Allahabad to the port of Broach in Gujarat; or crossed the five
rivers of the Punjab by way of Sialkot to Taxiia and Kabul,
whence it continued on into Central Asia or to the Levant. The
southern route branched off at Kausambi by way of Vidisa
(Besnagar) and Ujjain to Paithan in the north-west Deccan.
Thence it crossed the Deccan plateau to the lower Krishna and
went on to the great southern cities of Kanchi (Conjeeveram) and
Madural.

Luxury articles such as spices, gold, gems, silk, muslins, musk
and saffron formed the chief objects of long-distance trade.
Sandalwood, iron, copper, salt, sugar and rice were also carried
in these caravans,

Important seaports in ancient India were Broach (Barygaza
of the Greeks), Sopara not far from Bombay, Musiris near
modern Cranganore, Korkai near Tuticorin. Kaveripattinam
near Pondicherry (Poduka of the Greeks), Masali or Masuli-
patam, Tamralipti and Champa on the Ganges. Early trade was
mainly coastal and the largest vessel known to Phny, who
obtained some accurate information about the maritime trade of
the Indian Ocean, measured 3,000 amphorae or nearly 75 tons.

The Greeks, mainly from the island of Iona, whom the
Indians called Yavanas (a term denoting all Greeks, and later any
Westerner) and the merchants and mariners of Roman Egypt
knew India. There survives a remarkable seaman’s guide com-
piled in Greek towards the end of the first century A.D. by an
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anonymous author, the ‘Periplus of the Erythrean Sea’. Not only
does the Periplus refer to Barygaza and Musiris, but Tamil litera-
ture contains several refcrences to Kaveripattinam, its artificial
harbour, lighthouses and wharves, where the beautiful ships of
the Yavaras discharged their merchandise. There is goed evi-
dence that the subjects of the Roman Empire, if not actual
Romans, settled in India and that a temple of Emperor Augustus
stood at Musiris which was then an international seaport.

Trade with India had greatly increased after Hippalus, an
Egyptian pilot, ‘discovered’ the monsoon winds, whereby large
ships leaving an Arabian port in July or August could sail across
the Indian Ocean to Musiris in 40 days and return in December
or January. Socotra in the Gulf of Aden had a considerable
Indian colony and the name of the island may be derived from
sukhatara-dvipa, ‘the most pleasant island’, the landfall for ships
crossing the Ocean. One such merchant crossing from the Red
Sea to the Nile left a brief inscription in a temple at Redesive,
‘Sophon the Indian does homage to Pan for a good journey.’
Sophon probably refers to an Indian name such as Subhanu and
Pan was no doubt identified with Krishna. There are records of
embassies from Indian kings sent to the Caesars, particularly
of King Pandion, the Pandya king of Madurai, to Augustus in
20 B.C,

The considerable number of gold and silver coins struck by
Roman emperors, found in many parts of the peninsula and n
the interior of the Tamil country, and the many sherds of
Arretine and other wares, mass-produced in Western factories,
and unearthed at Arikamedu, near Pondicherry (Poduka of the
classical geographers), testify to the extent of the trade with the
West. It also indicates that Roman coinage must have circulated
as regular currency.

The main requirements of the West were spices, perfumes,
jewels and fine textiles, as well as ivory both raw and worked.
A finely carved ivory statuette of a goddess or a yakshi has been
found in Herculaneum which was destroyed when the volcano
Vesuvius erupted in A.D. 79. Indian iron was appreciated for its
hardness and purity. Dyestuffs such as indigo and lac were 1n
demand and several live animals and birds were exported from
India for the wild beast shows of the Roman emperors, the larger
animals being conveyed by the overland route through the desert
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trading city of Palmyra. Wealthy Roman ladies kept monkeys,
parrots and peacocks as pets. Emperor Claudius succeeded 1n
obtaining from India a specimen of the fabulous phoenix, pro-
bably a golden pheasant, one of the most beautiful birds of
India.

In return, India wanted gold. The drain of this precious metal
from the Roman Empire was recognised by Pliny who bitterly
declaimed that the degenerate habits of his day cost the empire
100 million sesterces a year, ‘so dearly do we pay for our luxury
and our women.’

Caracalla’s massacre of the people of Alexandria in A.D. 215
caused a setback to Western trade with India, but with the rise
of Constantinople in the fourth century, Roman coins reappear-
ed in the peninsula and embassies from the south, Sri Lanka and
the Maldives, were received by Constantine.

Contacts between India and the West are noticeable 1In
language. Some Hebrew words are believed to be of Indian
origin, notably koph, a monkey, from Sanskrit kapi; and tukki, a
peacock, from Tamil togai. According to the Book of Kings,
which may not be historically correct, the navy of Tharshish
brought King Solomon gold, silver, ivory, apes and peacocks,
which tends to show that the Hebrews received commodities from
India. The land of Ophir from where King Hiram of Tyre
brought gold, precious stones and almug trees was Sopara, an
ancient port north of Bombay. In fact in the Septuagint, the pre-
Christian Greek version of the Old Testament, the place name
occurs as Sophara; the almug trees may have been sandal, one of
the Sanskrit words for which is valguka, from which the Hebrew
word may be derived. Indian loan words in Greek and Latin are
nearly all articles of trade: precious stomes such as smarados,
emerald (marakata) and berullos, beryl (vaidurya); spices such as
ziggiberis, ginger (srngavera) and peperi, pepper (pippali); food-
stuffs such as sakkharon, sugar (sarkara) and oruza, rice (Tamil,
arishiy; and karpasos, cotton (karpasa). Greek loan words in
Sanskrit include several connected with mathematics and astron-
omy: ora, hour, hora; kentron, centre, kendra; gonia, angle, kona;
and words connected with writing: kalamos, pen, kalama; melan,
ink, mela; and puksinos, book, pustaka.

By the sixth century, trade with India passed into the hands of
the Arabs and the Ethiopians. The rise of Islam and the Arab
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conquest of Iran and Egypt in the following century closed all
direct communication between Europe and India. Thenceforth
Indian wares passed through Muslim hands which were transmit-
ted from the marts of the Levant to Venice, which acquired
enormous wealth and influence through its monopoly of Eastern
commerce. At Pedda Ganjam in Andhra Pradesh, tradition
associates a mound known as farangi dibba or the foreigners’
mound with the Italian traders who had established a settle-
ment there 1n A.D. 1224,

With regard to China, an overland route existed from remote
antiquity. A direct sea route seems to have been used only from
the fourth or fifth century, when Fa Hsien, the Chinese pilgrim
sailed from Sr1 Lanka to India in a vessel along with 200 Indian
and Sinhalese merchants. There were Indian merchants and a
Hindu temple in Canton in A.np. 750. By the ninth century
the countries of South Asia had developed extensive maritime
commerce and the states which fiourished on this trade were the
T’ang Empire of China, the Sailendra dynasty of Sumatra, Java
and the neighbouring islands, and the Abbasid Khalifat at
Baghdad. In the days of the Sudg dynasty, greater interest was
taken in the maritime trade which became a monopoly of the
court. The Chola kings sent several embassies to China and huge
Chinese junks regularly called at Indian ports till the coming of
the Portuguese. Siraf on the east coast of the Persian Gulf, was
the chief emportum in the West. The trading community there
entertained merchants and sailors from China, Java, Malaya and
India, ‘every Indian insisting on a plate exclusively for his own

¥

use’.
In the south of India, princes and rulers had, for over a

thousand years, become accustomed to alien ships and merchants
riding at anchor or trading in their ports. Chinese, Malayans,
Arabs and Africans were welcomed and allowed to settle and to
set up their own stations and colonies, administered by their own
chiefs. Such a concept of mercantile extra-territoriality could
only exist among people who had long-established maritime
traditions and a high regard for the rights, customs and culture
of foreigners.

The kings of Portugal in the fifteenth century had looked with
envy on the riches of Venice and eagerly desired a share of her
profitable trade. Prince Henry the Navigator devoted his life to
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the discovery of a direct sea route to India, but until his death 1n
1460 his captains had oaly h=en able to sail as far as the river
Senegal in West Africa. It was Bartolomew Diaz who, driven by
storms beyond the Cape of Good Hope and Port Elizabeth in
14883, sailed sufficiently up the east coast of Africa to satisfy him-
self of the north-easterly trend of the Winds.

Ten years later Vasco da Gama rounded the Cape, picked up
Arab pilots at Malindi near Zanzibar, sailed across the Arabian
Sea and anchored near Calicut on 20 May 1498. The long-sought
oute had been opened and Portugal claimed the suzerainity of
the Indian Seas on the authority of papal bulls and briefs of
fifteenth century origin. These, in the case of Asiatic nations,
were entirely irrelevant since papal mandates were valid only in
the Roman Catholic world.

Within a few years of their appearance in Indian waters, a new
form of sovereignty was evolved of which Asia had no experience.
It was to hold the seas in strength and to appropriate the sea-
borne trade for themselves. Such an enormous enterprise for a
small nation located thousands of kilometres away was Success-
£ul because none of the Asiatic powers, not even the Mogul
£mpire had anything which resembled a navy. At the beginning
of the sixteenth century the Portuguese navy led the world 1n the
rig of ships, navigational techniques and gunnery, and 1t was
strong enough to destroy all opposition. Their control of the
major shipbuilding centres moreover, upheld their domination,
for neither the Red Sea nor the Persian Gulf afforded timber for

building warships.

Tt was the trade in spices which had originally brought the
Portuguese to India, and which n the early years yielded great
profits. Ultimately they gained most from their participation
in the carrying trade of the Indian Ocean and the China Seas.
Certain trade or maritime routes were declared a monopoly of
the king of Portugal and on these routes, no other vessel could
ply other than Portuguese ships. Commodities such as pepper,
spices, arms and gunpowder could only be carried in Portuguese
ships. Finally, all other craft could not call at or pass Portuguese-
controlled ports without paying licence fees, customs duties or sea
tolls. The control of the seas was thus complete and enforced by
the navy. In such a manner Muslim and other traders were
deprived of a great share in Indian textiles and piece goods,
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Persian and Arab horses, gold and ivory from East Africa and
spices from the Malabar, Sri Lanka and Indonesia. Trade was
extended to the China Seas and the varying price of gold and
silver in India, China and Japan brought the Portuguese great
profits by acting as bullion brokers in Goa and Macao.

Portugal’s sea-power 1n the sixteenth century was unassailable.
Their fortified shore establishments from Africa to China afford-
ed them shelter and supplies, and later furnished them with
reinforcements of sailors and fighting men. They had three bases
in the East, Goa, Malacca and Ormuz or Hormuz on the south-
coast of Iran near the island of Qishm. Besides these bases thev
held several other stations, chief of which were Mozambique,
Diu, Daman, Cochin and Colombo. Mozambique was a victual-
ling station as well as a centre for trade; Diu and Daman watched
the Gulf of Cambay, the most important area on the west coast
for exports from India; Cochin was the principal city for the
supply of pepper on the coast of Kerala, which item formed the
largest single commodity in their homeward bound ships; and
Colombo was the outlet for the cinnamon production of Sri
Lanka. There were aiso numerdus forts scattered in the Spice
Islands to secure the trade in cloves, cardamom, mace and
nutmeg; an extensive settlement at Macassar in the Celebes; a
colony at Timor; a base at Macao at the entrance to the harbour
of Canton; strategic positions on the shores of Africa and several
fortified settlements on the coasts of India like Bassein, Bombay,
Chaul, Quilon, Negapatam, San Thome, Hugli and Chittagong in
Bangladesh. The commanders of all these fortresses, fortified
towns and factories were appointed from Goa.

In India, Akbar (1555-1605) acknowledged the Portuguese
position by paying tolls on Mogul ships sailing to the Red Sea.
Byapur and the Muslim states of the Deccan made several
attempts to attack Goa, which were ineffective. The only
challenge to Portuguese authority was from Cunnale or Kunjali,
the pirate king of the Malabar, who enjoyed the secret protec-
tion of the zamorin of Calicut. Styling himself Lord of the Indian
Seas, Defender of Islam, Expeller of the Portuguese, he repuised
two expeditions sent against him, The third was successful. He
was captured, taken to Goa and hanged.

When the Dutch appeared in Indian waters the picture had
greatly changed. The long absence of any serious competition had
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led to poor design and unwieldy ships, the rate of loss at sca rose
alarmingly and mortality on board was very high. Portugal was
unable to replace the ships lost or to produce the men to man the
few that returned. Her manpower had been almost exhausted in
defending her Asiatic, African and Brazilian settlements, and
after 1580, had been squandered by Philip 11 in his attempts to
establish Spanish supremacy In Europe. The defence of her
Indian possessions and those In the East had been left to the
mixed race which had grown up in these settlements. Difficulties
in communication between the outlying settlements and Goa, the
preoccupation of their commanders with lining their own pockets
by conniving with local merchants who traded at the so-called
closed ports, and last of all, the conflict between the viceroy of
Goa and the ecclesiastical authorities, all combined to under-
mine Portugal’s once powerful Eastern empire.

When Portugal regained independence in 1640, the position
was already desperate and her connections with Spain had
brought her new enemies, foremost among whom were the
Dutch, the inveterate opponents of Spanish power, who success-
fully challenged her at sea. One after another her Indian and
Eastern possessions passed to the Dutch. Goa escaped actual
capture, although it was often blockaded, but its importance had
dwindled so steadily after the destruction of Vijayanagar in 15635,
that in the seventeenth century, it mattered little who held 1t.

By 1610 the Dutch had established themselves on the Coro-
mandel Coast, where the English Company also opened a factory
in the following year. Eventually, with the English hampered for

funds and the Portuguese for reinforcements, the tide turned 1n
favour of the Dutch.

In the sixteenth century India had several large and prosper-
ous cities whence a vast maritime trade was carried on with
Africa, Arabia, Iran, Sri Lanka, Indonesia, Malaysia, the Philip-
pines, China and Japan.

There was Tatta and Lauri Bandar in Sind, Pakistan. 1t was
an area of considerable trade in the north-west of the sub-
continent, from where goods were transported as far inland as
I ahore. Tatta and its hinterland yielded indigo, salt, sugar, iron,
pitch and tar, as well as fish oil used in boat building. The area
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produced excellent cottons, bafts and lawns and the country was |
known for its horses and camels. Its artistic leatherwork was in

great demand as bedspreads; so was its furniture such as desks,
cupboards, chests and coffers inlaid with mother-of-pear!. Sub-

sequent changes in the Indus delta reduced Tatta and Lauri

Bandar to a position of insignificance, and even now their sites

are doubtful.

Diu, in the bulge of the Kathiawar peninsula, had a decent
harbour. A large colony of Turkish merchants and traders resid-
ed there till the coming of the Portuguese. Living was good in
Diu and all the luxuries of life were easily available. Its trade
was so profitable that it not only became the target of the
Malabar pirates, but could also meet the losses from piracy.

Second to Goa was Cambay, ‘a very noble city, the port of
the whole of the Indian Sea’. Strictly speaking, Cambay was not
a seaport, as ocean going vessels could not approach it. Its
merchandise had to be carried in country craft to Diu or Surat.
Cambay was the commercial centre of Gujarat and one of the
wealthiest cities of India, the hog'le and nursery of all that was
best in Hindustan, where merchants from all parts of the world
resided. It was famous for its weaving and dyeing industries and
for its works of art made of ivory, wood and metal inlaid with
mother-of-pearl, silver and gold. A variety of cottons, silks and
perfumes came from Cambay as well as amber, agate, carnelian,
coral, onyx and other semi-precious stones. Its cushions, quilts,
canopies and paintings, tortoise-shell work, rings, buttons, beads
and ornate knife handles were in great demand in the East.
Cambay imported from Mecca and Aden coral, mercury, ver-
milion, copper, alum, madder (a pigment), rose water, saffron
and gold in specie and in coin. The people of Cambay were de-
scribed as, ‘a cunning and crafty race, not however fraudulent
nor easy to defraud. I have never seen men of wit so fine and
polished, they have nothing barbarous or savage about them.
They are unwilling to adopt the manner and customs of the
Portuguese, yet the Portuguese have so much to learn from them,
No people in the world know so much about pearls and
precious stones, and even at Goa, the goldsmiths, lapidaries and
other workmen are all Banians and Bramenis of Cambay, and
have their own shops and streets.’

Between 300 and 400 ships sailed twice or thrice a year from
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Cambay to Goa. The whole city turned out to receive them, as
in Spain they waited for those of the Indies. The principal €x-
ports from Cambay were indigo, oils and perfumes, sugar,
conserves, paper, wax, opium and gems, besides printed cotton,
satrangis or striped rugs, woollen carpats, inlaid cabiiets,
ornamental furniture and bedsteads and tortoise-shell work.

Another celebrated port of Gujarat was Surat, built on the
site of an earlier city named Suryapur. Surat and its rivai port
Randhir were ravaged by the Portuguese in 1512 and 1539, The
former recovered, but the latter, which was a greater city, sank
into oblivion. Surat could use everything from whatever quarter
of India it came. It was a convenient place for the exchange of
goods from Central India and the Deccan. Merchandise {rom
Acgra, Lahore and Kashmir, the south of India, not to mention
Europe and China passed through Surat. Everyone from the Cape
of Good Hope to China, man and woman, Was clothed from
head to foot in material made in Gujarat.

Bassein. 55 kilometres north of Bombay, was known for its
shipbuilding industry. It was to the Indies what Biscay was 10
Europe, for all the vesszls of the king of Spain were built here.
Bassein was a favourite of the wealthier Portuguese centlemen,
and the seat of the governor, who was called the General of the
North.

The most important city in India at that time was ‘Golden
Goa’, the metropolis of the Portugu ese East Indies. Its power,
opulence, trade, elegant buildings and the wealth of its inhabi-
tants made it the wonder of the East. It was the rendezvous of
merchants from all the Eastern nations and many Venetians,
Germans, Flemings, Spaniards and Englishmen resided in Goa.
It was a marvel to see the great multitude of pcople who came
and went, and the vast number of ships at anchor. The popula-
tion of Goa was estimated at nearly a quarter of a million, of
which three-fourths were Christians, the large number of clergy
being unknown and not inciuded.

Calicut was once the greatest port on the coast of Kerala, and
its ruler, the zamorin, the sworn enemy of the Portuguese. The
supremacy of the Portuguese and their patronage of Cochin had
caused Calicut to lose its position of importance. Yet merchants
of all nations and of all religions resorted to and settled in
Calicut, for their possessions and persons were safe there.
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Through Calicut passed an abundance of pepper, ginger, car-
damom, cinnamon, tamarind, coconuts, rice, timber, gems,
printed and woven tapestries and a fine cotton cloth known as
‘calico’. With the decline of the Portuguese, the zamorin had
begun to regain his erstwhile position of supremacy over the
princes of north and central Kerala.

Sri Lanka (Ceylon) was well-known for its precious stones such
as topazes, garnets, rubies, sapphires, chrysoliths, spinels, cat’s
eyes and pearls. Cinnamon, cardamom, areca, cbony, ivory,
elephants as well as gold and silver, were abundant. Coffee and
tea were not grown on the island at that time.

On the east coast of India, besides Negapatam and San Thome
or Mailapur (Mylepore) now a suburb of Madras, was Masuli-
patam, immortalised by Ptolemy in his Tables and in the
Periplus of the Erythrean Sea, as Masalia. For centuries Masuli-
patam was famous for its export of cotton piece goods. It was
a busy seaport and from its harbour ships regularly sailed up to
Bengal and Burma, laden with a variety of cotton cloth, yarn,
iron, glass, tobacco and cowries which were used as money in
Bengal and Lower Burma, returding with silk, rice, gingili or til
seed, a variety of sesamum: as well as sugar, woven fabrics and
quilts, rubies and sapphires, lac, benzoin, porcelain, glazed ware,
tin and gold. Ships also sailed to Sri Lanka, Malaysia and
Indonesia bringing back sulphur, camphor, silk, tin and china-
ware, besides cloth manufactured in Gujarat.

Marco Polo found ‘the most delicate buckrams of the highest
price which looked like the tissues of a spider’s web, being
exported to all quarters of the planet. There is no king or queen
in the world who might but be glad to wear them.’ Besides
cottons, diamonds, rubies, pearls, agates, indigo, rice and slaves
were exported in return for all that Malaysia, Indonesia, Sri
Lanka, Bengal, Burma, Cambay and even Europe could offer.

Beyond Masulipatam there were no great ports of the
importance of Surat, Calicut and Goa, except for Pippli and
Balasore in Orissa.

Bengal, the Paradise of Nations, had attracted Arab, Iranian,
Ethiopian and Gujarati merchants who traded with the Coro-
mandel ports, Malabar, Gujarat, Sri Lanka, Burma and
Indonesia. Satgaon, near Hugli and Chittagong in Bangladesh
were important centres of trade. Bengal was noted for tussore,
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‘herba cloths’ (material with floral and vegetal designs), raw silk,

cotton, butter, rice, wheat, opium, gingcr, chillies or long pepper,

sugar, saltpetre, lac, borax, musk, agate, civet, elephants, black
and red pottery, fruits, scented oils, rattan, furniture and leather
harness embroidered with silk and enriched with gold, silver and
pearls. It was also noted for eunuchs and slaves who were ex-
ported to Iran. Some of the Bengal cottons and silks were so fine
that ‘it is difficult to say whether a person so attired was nude or
clothed’. The muslins of Bengal were known to the ancient
Greeks under the name of gangitiki. Bengal imported SpICES,
sandal and ebony and other woods for making furniture, cowries,
tin, copper, spelter, salt, rhubarb, porcelain and coined money.
The country was however too unsettled due to constant wars
and rebellions. The seaports were difficult of access and most of
them were dominated by outlawed Portuguese who had turned
to piracy.

Burma, Thailand, Cambodia and Vietnam were noted for
fragrant wood, benzoin, thubarb, musk, camphor, lace, ivory and
elephants, tin and spelter, rubies, sapphires, emeralds, bezoar
stones, as well as silk goods, marble, skins and hides. Their
requirements were coloured and plain piece goods, pearls,
pepper and spices, lead, iron, copper, vermilion and chinaware.

China, the Celestial Empire, had been culturally and com-
mercially connected with India from remote antiquity. Chinese
diaphanous silk is referred to in the Mahabharata and the
Arthashastra. Its porcelain was in great demand all over the
world. Akbar is said to have left two and a half million rupees
worth of Chinese porcelain when he died. China exported raw
silk, damasks, satins and embroidery work, sugar, ginger, china-
root, rhubarb, civet, musk, amber, wax, gold, gold leaf and wire
steel, copner, tin, lead, spelter, iron pots and pans, flax, cotton,
saltpetre, lacquered and inlaid chests and trays, mother-of pearl
and tortoise shell work, confectionary, rubies and sapphires and
fans. The Chinese demanded many of the same commodities as
the Westerners, but they had more to offer in exchange. Though
India made splendid silks and muslins, they were ready te buy
the stuffs of China. Chinese procelain found a market in South

India and Sri Lanka. China imported Japanese silver, Spanish
dollars, wines, woollens, clocks, Malabar pepper, crystal and
glass-ware, sandal, ambergris, olive oil, benzoin, frankincense,
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rattan, opium, saffron, vermlion, coral, pearls, diamonds,
jewellery and the cottons of Cambay, Calicut and Bengal. The
Chinese trade was a monopoly of the king o Spain and no pri-
vote individual could trade there except some grandee, who may
be given a permit for one trading voyage only. Macao was then
the only opening for the Portuguese. Chinese junks plied to
Malacca and to India, particularly to Calicut and Cochin. Sir
Thomas Roe mentions that Chinese commodities were as expen-
sive in England as in India.

Japan, Land of the Rising Sun, had not yet woken from its
slumber of ages. It depended mostly on China for its wants and
consumed the same goods as China, conveyed there by the
Portuguese. Japan produced ‘curiosities,’ rice and lac, as well as
plenty of silver.

The largest island in the South China Sea is Borneo, 74 mullion
hectares (285,000 square miles) in extent; a land of dense
equatorial forests, swamps and intense heat. Its attraction was
gold, diamionds of good quality, fine round pearls and an abund-
ance of cloves, nutmeg, pepper, coconuts, bamboo, rice, honey,
camphor, wax, iron, copper, tin, angelica, bezoar stones, dragon’s
blood and dyes for colouring lac.

The Philippines, comprising over 2,600 islands, are to the
north-east of Borneo. They were the centre of the Asiatic and
American trade and a proud Spanish possession, resisting every
effort of the Dutch to gain a foothold there. The Philippines
imported spices from the Moluccas, Indian and Iranian goods,
particularly cloth, from the Coromandel Coast. It exported civet,
tortoise shell, gold, Spanish reals of eight, which were widely
used in the East by all European traders including the Dutch.

South of the Philippines lay the Celebes, famous for its copra,
wax and spices. Its chief town, if such a term may be used, was
Macassar.

The Moluccas along with Java, Sumatra and Borneo were
known as the Spice Islands. They were once populated by Indians
unti! the old regime and Hindu religion was swept away by Islam,
though trade with India remained. Its most important products
were spices, timber and pearls. The Clove Islands of Ternate,
Tidore, Morotai, Halmahera and several small islands formed a
part of the Molucca group. Local produce included gold, tin,
ivory, rosin, camphor, amber, rattan, benzoin, birds of paradise
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and cloves from which the islands received their name.

To the south lay the islands of Ceram or Serang, Amboina
and Banda. The latter grew nutmeg and mace in considerable
quantity. Amboina was 1In time better known for the incident
described as the ‘Massacre’ than for the cloves which grew there
in abundance.

The south-eastern mainland of the continent terminates in the
Malay peninsula, whose chief port was Malacca, which was
controlled by the Portuguese. All ships which plied between Goa
and Japan had to pay dues at Malacca. It imported drugs from
Cambay, pepper from the Malabar, sailcloth from Bengal and
sugar, salt, opium, beads and leather articles from the other
parts of India, porcelain from China, curiosities from Japan,
tapestries and carpets from Iran and woollens and metals from
Europe.

South of the Malay peninsula was the large island of Sumatra,
separated from Java by the Strait of Sunda, It was noted for its
precions metals, copper, brass, iron, gems, amber in severai
colours, camphor, benzoin, sulphur, sappan wood, wax, rattan
and birds of paradise. It also produced silk as good as Chinese,
and pepper in great quantity. In the north-west of the island was
the kingdom of Achin, a flourishing centre of Islamic studies,
virtually independent, strengthening and expanding Islam among
the Indonesian courts and peoples.

Java, known to the Hindus as Yahva, the Island of Barley,
yielded spices, nutmeg, mace, cloves, good pepper and ginger;
also frankincense, camphor, diamonds, emeralds, jasper, sap-
phires, agates, carbuncles and bezoar stones. Java’s requirements
were plain and coloured piece goods from the Coromandel,
Cambay and Bengal; reals of eight, porcelain, woollens and silks
from China; curiosities from Japan, as well as opium, amber,

coral, iron, lead, vermilion and broadcloth. Chinese, Arab and
Indian merchants and artisans lived in communities in Java.

The countries of the Muslim world produced gold in specie
and in coin, pottery, dry fruits, perfumes, saffron, pearls. coral,
mercury, vermilion and alum. Iran was noted for its silk
tapestries, carpets and horses. The east coast of Africa had noth-

ing much to offer except slaves, foodgrains, ebony and various
hardwoods and 1vory.

Tbe Dutch East India Company had been formed primarily
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to trade 1n pepper and spices. These two commodities formed the
main cargo of their homeward bound ships in the first half of the
seventeenth century. The European need for spices was due to
the social life at that time in the North European countries, for
under the prevailing system animals could be killed for meat only
in summer and autumn. Provision for the rest of the year had to
be made from animals killed in season. This was done either by
*salting’ or ‘powdering’. The latter process involved the use of a
large quantity of mixed spices and its importance may be gauged
by the frequent references to ‘powdered meat’ in English litera-
ture of the period. Gradually, all kinds of food were spiced—
meat, poultry, game, fish and even bread.

Initially pepper and spices had to be paid for in gold and silver
brought all the way from the Netherlands, for European goods
were not much in demand in the East Indies. The Dutch soon
discovered that these commaodities could be obtained in exchang:
for Indian cloth, and that gold and silver were available in China,
Japan, Borneo and Sumatra in return for opium, pearls, dia-
monds, hardware and iron, ang Indian textiles. When the Dutch
entered the port-to-port trade, they were able to generate the
finance required for all their requirements in the East and the
export of gold and silver from Holland was considerably reduced.

By the end of the seventeenth century, the European demand
for Indian textiles, piece goods and Bengal silk reduced the
demand for pepper and spices which however were still traded in
the Near and Middle East, The eighteenth century saw a still
further decline in these commodities when the tea and cofite
trades became more important than that of textiles.

India’s maritime trade, though it never wholly ceased, became
more the affair of foreigners. Travel to lands overseas was believ-
ed to incur grave impurity for members of the upper classes, and
it became profitable if not expedient for the Indian merchant {o

sell his wares to foreign middlemen, than to take them abroad
himself.
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CHAPTER IV

Early Voyages and Settlements

The pattern of trade in the days of the pioneer companies was
to invest the greater portion of the capital subscribed in ships
and goods which could be sold in the East, and to convert the
remainder into gold and silver in the form of Spanish reals of
eight, a currency widely used in the East Indies. When the ships
arrived in Achin or Bantam, whatever quantity of pepper and
spices were available would be purchased, loaded, and the ships
would return to the Netherlands. There, the vessels would be
disposed of, the commodities sold, profits distributed and the
adventure wound up. The Dutch had no intention of acquiring
territory or of establishing colonies, nor did they anticipate the
setting up of factories and agencies in the East.

This system had several disadvantages, foremost among which
was competition from Chinese merchants. The Chinese, who had
settled their buyers 1n all the spice and pepper producing areas
of Indonesia, would buy these items 1n bulk from the planters,
and store them till their ships came to carry the consignments
away. The Dutch had therefore to take whatever was left or to
wait till the next harvest. To wait till the next season was expen-
sive and risky; ships became unfit for the long return voyage
and sickness and disorderly behaviour among the crews, who
received 1dle pay, took their toll. Another disadvantage was that
the growers preferred to sell their produce for cash or for Indian
cloth (brought to Sumatra and Java by Indian and Malayan
merchants) and had no use for goods brought from Europe.

So the Dutch decided to settle merchants on the spot, and to
get at the centres of cloth production which were known to be
in Gujarat and on the Coromandel Coast. By leaving behind
traders, not only would the goods they had brought be disposed
of as and when the best opportunity presented itself, but they
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could obtain their requirements as the harvest was gathered, and
store it till the arrival of the next fleet. By 1602 they had estab-
lished an agency at Bantam on the west coast of Java and
another at Achin in north Sumatra.

In 1602, two Dutch merchants, Hans de Wolff and Lafer,
belonging to one of the pioneer companies, appeared in Surat,
one of the most eminent cities of trade in India. They found that
the goods generally in demand were velvet, kerseys, lac, safiron,
coral, tin, lead and firearms, while the Indian products available
were cottons, indigo, iron and pepper imported from the south,
They wrote enthusiastically to Bantam of the possibility of a
profitable trade in Surat, and learning that there were some areas
in Kerala which the Portuguese did not control, where pepper
could be obtained, they sailed for Calicut. Here they were cap-
tured by Portuguese agents, taken to Goa and hanged.

De Wolff and Lafer's report was so encouraging that the
Seventeen decided to secure Gujarat cottons for the markets
of the Archipelago. Steven van der Hagen was accordingly com-
missioned by the VOC to sail to the East Indies with a fleet of
13 ships and to negotiate treafies of trade and friendship with the
rulers and kings of Cambay, Dabhol, Calicut and Sri Lanka; to
assure them that every year vessels would visit these countries to
trade as well as to help them in their struggle with the
Portuguese. He carried letters written in Portuguese, which had
become the lingua franca in the East, to all Indian rulers and a
personal letter to the Great Mogul in whose dominions Cambay
was located. Van der Hagen was also instructed to call at Surat
and to cause as much damage as possible to Portuguese shipping
in the Gulf of Cambay.

van der Hagen had not reckoned with the south-west mon-
soon which was in full blast when he entered Indian waters. He
neither anchored at Surat nor did he encounter any Portuguese
ships in the vicinity. He sailed southward and reached Calicut,
whose ruler, the zamorin was a long-time enemy of the
Portuguese.

While the zamorin’s councillors received van der Hagen with
great ceremony, the Portuguese made an unsuccessful raid on the
harbour of Calicut. On 11 October 1604 he met the zamorin in
person at Chettwaye. The outcome of this meeting was that
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Steven van der Hagen, in the name of the States-General and His
Royal Highness, Maurice, Prince of Orange, concluded a treaty
with the ruler of Calicut, which stipulated:

A close alliance, eternal and unbreakable for the oppression
of the Portuguese, and for driving them out of the lands of the
Zamorin, and also out of the whole of India.

That with the next opportunity, ships would be sent to trade
at Calicut and merchants would be stationed there for that
purpose. To eftect this on the best opportunity, a fortress
would be built which would remain in the hands and under

- the dominion of the Dutch for all time.

No treaty should be made by either side with the Portuguese
without the other party being informed; and if it was found to
be oppressive, the agreement should not be entered 1nto.

The people of the coast of Malabar from the south of Goa
to Cape Comorin should not be permitted to set out on any
navigational enterprize without the authority of the Zamorin,
and if any ships were intercepted without this permit, they
would be confiscated to the Zamorin.

Van der Hagen’s visit to Calicut brought about the first politi-
cal understanding between the Dutch and an Indian prince. The
treaty underlines Dutch policy in India—to ally themselves with
Indian powers, to establish trading agencies and to openly attack
the Portuguese whose monopoly of the Eastern trade they regard-
ed as a grievance,

At the beginning of the seventeenth century, the VOC was not
interested in territorial power in India and as such did not accept
the fortress offered by the zamorin.

Although annual fleets called at Calicut and van der Hagen’s
treaty was renewed and confirmed and new agreements of trade
and friendship made, all these covenants remained a dead letter.
The west coasi of India was effectively controlled by the
Portuguese and the Dutch had to watt till that nation’s power in
Sr1 Lanka and South India declined, before they established
themselves in Kerala. This happened 1in 1661 when Rijkloff van
Goens captured Quilon.

While meetings and negotiations were in progress in Calicut,
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van der Hagen despatched the Delft (a three-masted jacht) to the

Coromandel Coast., The Delft reached Masulipatam early in
1605.

Masulipatam, literally the City of Fish, had been famous since
the dawn of history for its fine cotton piece goods and its great
overseas trade with Bengal, Arakan, Pegu and Tenaserrim in
Burma, Malaysia, Indonesia and China, as well as Sr1 Lanka
and the Maldive Islands. A variety of Indian and Asiatic goods
passed through this city—diamonds from Golconda, pearls from
the far south, silk from Bengal and China, porcelain, gold, gems,
spices, grains, various woods and metals, coir and coconuts,
tobacco, sugar, sulphur, camphor and slaves. Van Linschoten
had heard of the excellent textiles of all colours and designs
which were made on the Coromandel Coast, at Masulipatam and
further south, particularly the figured and floral patterns which
were in greater demand than silk. Masulipatam along with
Petapoli (Nizamapatam) and Bimlipatam were ports in the
kingdom of Golconda, whose ruler at that time was Sultan
Muhammad Quli (1580-1611).

Largely through a Jewish nerchant named Azzelan, the Dutch
were able to secure a consignment of cotton piece goods, and
the Delft sailed for Bantam leaving behind Pieter Eyloft and
Willemsz to set up a trading station at Masulipatam.

The Dutch factory probably consisted of an old brick house
hired from one of the local officials as a residence; a shed
for the storage of goods, the walls of which were partly
thatched, its roof covered with coconut fronds and the floor sur-
faced with cowdung. Furniture consisted of several trunks and
chests, some hammocks, a few tables and chairs taken off the
Delft, the rest having been made locally. All communication with
the local people was carried on through interpreters, none of
whom knew the Dutch language. Since low Portuguese was
spoken by the trading community, the Dutch carried on their
business in that language, through Indian interpreters who spoke
Telegu, Tamil or Persian.

The fleet which left the Netherlands in 1605 under Cornelis
Matelief de Jonge called at Surat and Calicut and at Bantam
where it took on the Delft’s cargo and continued its voyage
towards Sumatra. The Delfr returned to Masulipatam in the
following year bringing Dirk van Leeuwin and Paulus van Solt.
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En route it called at Pulicat to explore the possibility of trade n
that area. Van Solt and his colleagues were unable to gain a foot-
hold in Pulicat, as the Portuguese who were well-established
there, used every ruse and device to prevent local traders and
producers from contacting the Dutch. They decided to sail for
Petapoli, a second port in the kingdom of Golconda.

Petapoli had none of the advantages of Masulipatam. Its
anchorage was dangerous and exposed to the winds, the [ore-
shore was marshy and malarious and the chimate, unhealthy. Van
Solt was welcomed and shown the various goods available. With
the help of two influential Iranian merchants, the local
weavers were contacted and asked to manufacture material
according to the samples brought from Bantam. A plot of land
was purchased and van Leeuwin remained behind at Petapoli to
manage the new factory, the second Dutch establishment on
the Coromandel Coast.

It may be of interest here to refer to the great diamond mines
of Golconda. India was, for centuries, the only source of large
diamonds in the world. These were recovered from mines and
alluvial deposits adjacent to Vijayawada and near Kurnool, in
the kingdom of Golconda. The rough gems were cut and polish-
ed and sold in the ‘diamond quarter’ of the city. By the middle
of the seventeanth century there were 23 mines in operation.
I1l-paid labour employed by individual ‘farmers’ or COMNCession-
aires, washed and sifted the earth in search of diamonds. Several
thousands of labourers, artisans, craftsmen, contractors, money-
lenders, merchants and officials were engaged 1n the Golconda
mines, which afforded a steady income to the treasury as well as
the possession of the choicest and largest stones found. Usually
a Telegu Brahman paid a set amount for the control of all
mining and supply concessions. He retained for himself all
diamonds less than the weight of a gold hun. The Pitt
diamond, also known as the Regent, along with several of the
largest stones in existence, came from these mines, which were
in those days the richest prize of the Deccan. Diamonds are still
mined in India, though no longer at Golconda, a term which is
synonymous in the English language with a source of great
wealth. The Panna mines in Madhya Pradesh yield about 20,000
carats a year, none of them being very large.

The government of Golconda was despotic. Everything was
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done 11 the name of the Sultan by the Iranian nobles who had

uncontrolled powers. They dominated the hierarchy of local

officials whose primary duty was to collect revenue and taxes.

Public offices were ‘farmed’ or auctioned once a year to the

highest bidder. There were farmers of customs, harbour dues,

road tolls, housss, cottage industries, fisheries, salt, tobacco, dis-

tilleries, almost everything which could yield revenue. The

stipulated amount had to be paid in three instaiments, the lease-

holder or farmer being allowed to retain all that he could make

over and above it. In other words, the court insisted that the
money had to be paid; the local authorities had to find it, and
the merchants and producers had to pay it. 1t was a system which
intensified itself and impoverished the country. Golconda was
divided into districts, each under an official whom nineteenth
century writers called a governor. To secure these appointments,
the nobles at court had to be bribed. To meet ali these and other
expenses, the governors used every possible method of reim-
bursement: levying additional taxes and tolls and even borrowing
money with no intention of repayment. Petapoli was rented out
for Rs 250,000 a year and in turnysub-contractied for Rs 290,000.
Masulipatam, which was probably the busiest seaport on the east
coast if not in the Bay of Bengal was rented out for Rs 800,000
which was again farmed out to several subordinate officials.
Salaries of the actual tax collectors were calculated in cash but
paid in grain and salt of poor quality valued at one-third above
its cost. Sidappa, the governor of Masulipatam, who owed his
position to Mir Jumla, the influential and unscrupulous chief
minister of Golconda, levied a tax of 16 per cent on exports,
instead of the normal four, and seven and a half per cent on
imports, He cheated in the assessment as well.

They soon realised that it was not easy to carry on a satis-
factory trade at these two ports. Not only were the taxes
oppressive, but the local officials interfered with and intinudated
the weavers, artisans and merchants on whom they had to
depend. Van Solt decided that the only solution was to go to
Golconda, the capital, where they would try to negotiate a regular
trade agreement with the sultan.

Van Solt and Willemsz of Masulipatam were received at the
court with great hospitality, and after the preliminary discus-
sions had been completed, they were granted a firman which
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guaranteed a fixed duty of four per cent on exports and imports.
The Dutch were allowed to choose their own workers and
brokers, and not necessarily those recommended by the
governors. Weavers, dyers, bleachers and other artisans would
have free access to the Dutch factors and they were exempted
from the payment of the chappa dalala, the 12 per cent stamp
duty on linen. This privilege had hitherto not been granted to the
sultan’s own subjects, nor to the Portuguese. While this treaty
was being drawn up, news was received of a flood at Masuli-
patam. Leaving Willemsz at Golconda, van Solt hurried back,
where he found the situation deplorable. Two merchants and a
bargeman had been drowned and all their provisions ruined. He
set about repairing the damage, by which time Willemsz return-
ed. He had been told by Mir Jumla, as he was about to leave,
that all the concessions granted by the court were subject to
Sidappa’s confirmation. For a while all went well and the Dutch

* shipped 122 bales of cloth and a consigament of rice, pulses and
iron to Bantam,

To Paulus van Solt must be given the credit for establishing
the early Dutch trade in the kingdom of Golconda, whichin the
years to follow contributed such large profits to the Dutch
Company. These advantages however were secured at great Cost.
Including the value of gifts and presents, the embassy to
Golconda cost Rs 350,000 and Sidappa’s confirmation was sealed
with a lean of Rs 13,500.

In 1607 the Great Sun sailed into Petapoli with Lodwik
Eyloff from the Bantam factory who was to relieve his brother
Pieter at Masulipatam, and Lucas Janssen who was to succeed
van Leeuwin at Petapoli. The Bantam Council had decided that
the chief merchant of each of these factories should, 1n turn,
preside over both factories for periods of one month each. As
long as the Great Sun lay alongside, the Dutch had no difficulty
in obtaining the cotton piece goods they needed. No sooner had
she sailed, than delays in supply commenced. Goods on which
tolls had been paid were not allowed to be loaded or discharged,
commitments were not honoured and Sidappa demanded

Rs 90,000 for two ships he was building for the sultan. In vain
Lodwijk Eyloff protested that all this was in violation of van
Solt’s firman. The governor insisted, declaring that if he did not
get some profit from the Dutch, how could they, (the Dutch)
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trade. Eyloft was helpless, for not only could Sidappa stop all
supplies, but goods lying 1n the warehouse could be tampered
with. Eventually he loaned Sidappa Rs 20,000. Thus he who had
recently returned the loan of Rs 13,500 compelled his successor
to give him a larger loan. Hardly had the loan been given when
the harbour master declared that all goods ordered by the Dutch
should first be sold to him. This was settled by the Dutch paying
the harbour master the commission which they would have paid
to the brokers.

In Petapoll the situation was not so trying. The two Iranian
merchants whose names have come down to us as Mir Kabady
and Godiar Suhidar, obtained for them Rs 328,000 worth of
cottons which was sent to Achin and Bantam and Rs 3,400
worth of diamonds which were sent to Amsterdam.

Further up the Bay of Bengal were the kingdoms of Arakan
and Pegu in Burma and the province of Bengal. Pegu was known
for its rubies and the best arrack in the sub-continent; Bengal
for its rice and other food grains. If the Portuguese could be
dislodged from this region, the Dutch felt that their East Indian
trade could be greatly benefited, Since the ruler of Arakan had
recently asked for help against the Portuguese, Pieter Willemsz and
Jan Gerritz Ruyll the book-keeper at Petapoli sailed for Arakan
with a consignment of sandalwood, spices, camphor, ivory,
sulphur and procelain. On arrival, they wcre offered Fort St
Iago, if they could expel the Portuguese from it. Willemsz found
that the piece goods and indigo from the Krishna delta were in
demand. Moreover, there was a possibility of trading with
Thailand through Burma. The Dutch secured cotton yarn and
rubics, the greater part of which was shipped to Europe.
Willemsz and Ruyll, having assured the ruler that ships vould
regularly visit Arakan, returned to Masulipatam well satisfied
with their mission to Bengal.

The Council of Bantam now dectded to unify the command
on the Coromandel Coast. Pieter Eyloff returned to preside over
both the factories with Jan van Wesick stationed at Petapoli, as
his deputy. In Masulipatam the situation had again deteriorated.
Goods which bad been ordered by the Dutch were taken over by
the governor at cost price on the grounds that they were requir-
ed by the sultan. The Dutch were blamed for not protecting two
vessels belonging to the sultan which had been captured by the
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Portuguese. There were odd incidents of violence and the local
people seemed to have been set up against the Dutch. For a
while Eyloff considered abandoning their trade and reverting to
the old system of trading voyages between Burma and Java.
Godiar Suhidar whose influence in Petapoli was considerable,
transferred a large quantity of Pulicat cottons to the Dutch
warehouse, and also purchased and removed the consignment
of taffetas and porcelain stored aboard a Dutch ship, without
the harbour master’s knowledge. The Pulicat cottons, in spite of
the cost of transportation, yielded considerable profit. Van
Wesick’s knowledge of the piece goods trade, the processes in-
volved, his advice to junior merchants, the frequent tours he
undertook to seek new sources of material and the supervision
of weavers and producers, went a long way in making the
Dutch trade in this area extremely profitable.

The annual fleet which sailed from the United Provinces 1n
1606 brought David van Deynsen to Surat, while Admiral
Verhoff and Captain Caerdin went on to the Malabar coast.
After the tragedy of de Wolff and Lafer, no progress had been
made at Surat until van Deynsen reached this city with goods
valued at 12,000 florins (about Rs 10,000), to be used mainly for
the purchase of indigo manufactured at Sirkhej, Agra and
Lahore. Portuguese priests who doubled as merchants and traders,
systematically harassed and intimidated the Dutchman. They
accused him of not paying for the wines he had taken; they
induced his servants to desert and tampered with the supply of
provisions. Jan Hussen, his assistant, died and all the work had
to be done by van Deynsen himself. Disheartened mentally and
physically worn out, he committed suicide in the summer of
1608. The goods he had purchased in Surat and from Burhanpur
through agents were taken over by the harbour master. They re-
mained in his possession for seven years, until the Dutch were
well-established on the Coromandel Coast, when an attempt was
made to recover them.

In the meanwhile, Verhoff and Caerdin called at Cannanore
and at Calicut, renewed van der Hagen’s earlier agreement and
signed a second treaty with the zamorin. The highlight of the
meeting with the zamorin and his advisers was the variety of gifts
which were exchanged—the ruler received a piece of scarlet
velvet, several clusters of fine coral, six crystal mirrors, two
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small cannons, six matchlocks, two muskets, a sword with a
siiver hilt and a large gold medallion with the portrait of Prince
Maurice on it. The admiral was presented with a diamond-
studded gold ring and a thick gold chain. Caerdin and the other
ship’s officers received chains, uncut semi-precious stones, bags
of pepper and spices and baskets of fruit. The zamorin mention-
ed that he needed six Dutch warships, two for the defence of his
capital and the rest to blockade Cochin and Goa. Verhoff was
unable to spare so much of his fleet which was required in the
Moluccas. When he later reported this to Jacques L’Hermite de
Jonge of the Bantam Council, he was told that trade need not be
developed in Calicut, as there was nothing there they needed
except pepper, of which they had sufficient quantities.

On 19 November the Arent and the Valk with Jakob de Bitter
and Pieter Bourgonje on board, the latter on his way to relieve
Eyloft, were blown into Tegnapatam (Devanampatam) near
Cuddalore, a port in the territory of the nayak of Gingi. With
three assistants they set out for the town of Gingi. They were
welcomed there by the nayak® advisers, permitted to buy as
many cotton piece goods as they needed, and offered an abandon-
ed bungalow butlt by the Portuguese, as a residence and for the
storage of their goods. The nayak further promised ‘to take
under our protection the Dutchmen who shall remain behind at
Tegnapatam and to let them build in the town, to deny the
Portuguese, and to remain their enemies’. Against this the
Dutch promised to start trading there and to pay the usual
duties on imports and exports.

Bourgonje and his assistants remained in Tegnapatam. Much
was expected from this trade, as there was a greater degree of
security, less oppression from local officials and the market was
promising, especially since they had access to the manufacturing
centres further south. It also made the Dutch less dependent on
the favours of nobles and officials in Golconda.

For all his faults, Bourgonje* was an able merchant. He im-
ported camphor, sandalwood, cloves, nutmeg, mace, velvet,
porcelain and bronze, and secured in exchange a considerable

*He rented 5,400 measures of land for himself for Rs 2,200, which he
later leased to the faciory, and shut his eyes when Hans Marcelis, his
hweede, bought at the back door, cotion piece goods meant for the
Company.
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quantity of dyed and printed cottons, and somc indigo. Until
such time as the old Portuguese building was repaired, he was
allowed to occupy a large house in the village of Tirupapaliyar,
two kilometres inland. Unfortunately, an incident occurred
shortly after they occupied the Tirupapaliyar lodge, which
lowered his prestige in the eyes of the Tamilians. Jakobsz, a
junior merchant, and three others entered the factory in a far
from sober condition. When reprimanded, they became
boisterous, Jakobsz brandishing his rapier; they climbed onto the
roof of the building, refusing to heed Bourgonje. In desperation,
the latter called in the local guards to arrest them. The output
of the factory suffered due to the absence of these assistants, and
instigated by the Portuguese clergy in the vicinity, the dyers and
weavers struck work. To make matters worse, the Portuguese re-
occupied and rebuilt the old bungalow at Tegnanatam with
materials purchased by the Dutch.

Events turned in their favour when the nayak expelled the
Portuguese from Tegnapatam. In egratitude the Dutch decided to
present him with a pair of elephants, which they proposed to
obtain from their new-found friend, the raja of Kandy in Sri
Lanka.

Tirupapaliyar could produce cotton piece goods to the speci-
fications required in Malaysia and Indonesia, which were not
easily available in Masulipatam and Petapoli. Trade with Pulicat,
however, was not yet possible, as the Portuguese were 1n
strength at San Thome, which lay between Pulicat and
Tegnapatam.

Unpleasantness at Masulipatam continued and Eyloff now
considered shifting his headquarters to Tegnapatam. Matters
came to a head when Pylappa succeeded Sidappa. His first

| action, with the assistance of Namaiga, his counterpart at
Petapoli, was to call upon the Dutch to pay the stamp duty on
cloth. When the Dutch refused, he arranged with a brahman
adviser at Golconda to demand the arrears of this duty, in the
name of the sultan. The Dutch still refused to pay. Before this
deadlock could be resolved, an incident occurred which placed
the Dutch in Namaiga’s hands. Pieter Julis caught a thief enter-
ing the Petapoli factory, when van Wesick was away on tour.
The thief was flogged and three days later handed over to the
authorities, when he died. Namaiga accused Julis of murder, and
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through his brahman friend at Golconda, arranged for the Dutch

merchants to be summoned to the court to account for their

actions. Van Wesick, accompanied by Pieter Klassen and
Anthony Schover, set out on this delicate mission. When they
reached the capital, the purpose of the summons became appar-
ent—the stamp duty. In spite of the concession granted to van
Solt in 1606, they were now called upon to pay the duty, which
was computed at Rs 54,000, and an additional sum of Rs 18,000
as port dues. They were also accused of having ruined the trade
of Masulipatam by monopolising the harbour, and by not allow-
ing other vessels to call there, including those of the Portuguese.
As a result the only foreign goods brought intc the kingdom had
been these which the Dutch imported. The hearing dragged on
for nearly three months, the Dutchmen being abused and insult-
ed whenever they appeared in the streets. Eventually they were
allowed to lcave, after having promised to settle with Namaiga.
Thereis no record how the matter was settled.

Earlyin 1610, Arend Maertenssen was sent to Gingi to rencw
the old agreement and to consoligdate the Dutch position there.
They were allowed to fortify the lodge at Tirupapalivar, free use
of the harbour of Tegnapatam, and to trade at Porto Novo,
which facility they did not avail of at that time. While
Maertenssen was at Gingi a message was received from the raja
of Chandragiri, inviting them to commence trade at Pulicat.
Maocrtenssen, Foutaine and Marcelis travelled overland to
Vellore, whose ruler the nayak, a tributary of the raja of
Chandragiri, controlled the port of Pulicat. The outcome of the
agreement with Vellore was the usual concessions which South
Indian rulers granted to forcigners: assistance in the employment
of dvers, weavers, printers and other artisans, and a duty of two
per ¢cent on imports and exports. It was also stipulated that the
requirements of the nayak and the raja should be sold to them
at cost price. The Dutch were allotted a stone house for their
mcrchandise and their arms and ammunition. Hans Marcelis
staved on at Pulicat, with Fontaine to assist him.

The vsual troubles now started at Pulicat, th: main instiga-
tors being the karbour master and the governor. The warehouse
was broken into and several muskets, powder and shot stolen,
When the Dutch merchants appeared on the scene, they were
attacked and beaten. Marcelis reported the matter to the nayak
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of Vellore. Redress was speedy: the harbour master was replac-
ed and compensation was given in the form of a half per cent
reduction in duties. Marcelis and Fontaine were given a palan-
quin and taken in procession around the town. As additional
compensation they were granted the villages of Kaveripak,
Kunnattur and Satyavedu.

Marcelis reciprocated this friendly gesture by promising the
nayak of Vellore a pair of elephants which the raja of Kandy
was asked to supply. Only two elephants arrived from Sri Lanka
and the Council of Masulipatam decided that they should be
given to the youngest establishment on the Coromandel Coast,
completely ignoring the promise they had maae to the navak of
Gingi. Marcelis for a while toyed with the idea of presenting the
elephants to the raja of Chandragiri, but when the council insist-
ed, he handed them over 10O Vellore. When Gingi heard of the
cift he threatened to withdraw all the concessions he had given
t5 the Dutch. To save the situation Marcelis offered him the
price of the elephants, which he later changed to an offer 1n
kind, and this was accepted.

Eventually, Marcelis’ eccentric behaviour and discourteous
attitude to the local brokers and merchants as well as to his
colleagues, caused his nveede (the second merchant) to write a
strong letter to the Council of Masulipatam, in which he report-
ed his failings. Janssen was sent with full authority to put things
right in Pulicat. The factory procedure drawn up by Janssen stl1-
pulated that all letters, entrics in ledgers and transactions should
be signed by both the senior merchant and his second; that
goods could only be bought with the consent of the council;
likewise all presents and gifts, as well as any other commitments
needed their consent; and due courtesy should be shown to all
ranks as well as to local dealers and workimen. This system of
dual control and management by committee was introduced 1n
a1l the Dutch factories and was adopted by the English East
India Company as weil.

Pieter Eylofi, the veteran of the Coromandel, while returning
from Petapoli died of what has been termed ‘inward bleeding’.
Greatly respected by all, his body was brought to Masulipatam
and buried in the Dutch cemetery there. The Council of Bantam

appointed Jan van Wesick in his piace and suggested that the
Golconda factories be closed down. It was probably an indirect
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method of saying that van Wesick would not be able to handle |
the authorities at Masulipatam and Petapoli. Van Wesick how- :
ever did not close these factories. He succeeded in aetting the
customs duties fixed at four per cent and the arrears of chappa
dalala waived. The greatest hindrance to all his efforts to further
Dutch trade, was the dishonesty of his own officers who in-
dulged in considerable private trading.

The trade at Pulicat flourished and Marcelis, writing to
Bantam, declared, “if we had ten times more money and capital
to spend on cloth, it should not have been otherwise spent.” He
pointed out that there were requirements of new items such as
lead, tm, mercury, leaf brass and sulphur, besides camphor
and benzoin; and that relations with the local merchants were
extremely good. Pulicat helped the factory at Tirupapalivar to
become profitable and a second warehouse was constructed
there. An agency was opened at Trimelipatam, in the territory
of the nayak of Tanjore.

Raja Sinha, having learnt of the progress the Dutch had made
on the Coromandel Coast, nayw asked for assistance in his strug-
gle to expel the Portuguese from his lands, reminding van
Wesick that he had sent them two elephants. A similar appeal
came from the ruler of Arakan. Carolus de Lannoy was sent to
Sr1 Lanka to explain the Dutch position and to assure the raja
that help would be forthcoming; Jakob Dirk Cortenhoeff was
sent to Burma to inform the Arakan ruler that his appeals had
remained unanswered because Willemsz had not made them
known to his superiors. He carried goods valued at five thousand
rupees. He was also to mention that the sudden death of Eyloff
had created difficulties in Masulipatam, and moreover, since
there was now peace in Europe between the Netherlands and
Spain, they were required to maintain that peace in India.

The Portuguese also had been watching with dismay, the ris-
ing influence of the Dutch in India, particularly on the east
coast., Their attack on Pulicat was repulsed by the Dutch vessels
in the harbour. Two of the Portuguese ships along with their
crews were captured. Another attempt was made to destroy the
shipping in Masulipatam harbour and to intercept sailings to
Bantam. Two more of their ships were captured. A second attack
on Pulicat failed miserably.

Several of the senior merchants on the Coromandel now
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began to feel the necd for a centralised administration on the
Coast, that they should have ‘a2 head to deal with their enenues,
to resist the craft and unreliableness of the natives and the In-
creasing plots of the Portuguese. [t was neccssary for one person
to be appointed to exercise supreme authority over a1l the estab-
lishments.” The Bantam authorities decided to leave this decision
to Pieter Both who had been appointed the first governor
general of the Netherlands East Indies. But Both was late n
reaching Bantam. S0 the Council recommended Jakob
Groenewegen, or failing him, Jacques L'Hermite de Jonge. The
former was killed at Banda before he could sail for India and the
1atter could not be spared from Bantam. Shortly after assuming
office Both, on the advice of the newly formed Council for the
Indies, appointed Jan van Wesick director and governer of all
the factories on the Coromandel Coast. Juan de Labistrate
carried this order of council to van Wesick, as well as a personal
letter from the governor general commending his past service
and conduct. De Labistrate was also told that in the event of van
Wesick not accepting the appointment, he was to assume charge
himself. The general instructions to the new director of the
Coromandel were that he would reside at Pulicat, and with the
help of de Labistrate and the other senior merchants, a Council
for Coromandel would be formed, which would advise and
assist the director. All the factories on the east coast were now
subordinate to Pulicat. The director was instructed to investigate
the feasibility of van Solt’s plan of overland transport of
merchandise to Gujarat; to obtain indigo from Agra and Lahore
which was superior in quality to that available locally; aud to
decide whether the trade with Burma and Bengal was worth
pursuing. Finally, stringent qction was to be taken to stamp out
private trading; the factory at Petapoli be reduced n staff; and
from the available Dutch merchants on the coast a suitable
person was to be selected as the Dutch ambassador to the court
of Golconda.

Van Wesick accepted the appointment of director of Coro-
mandel, which office he filled with credit till 1612. Pulicat
remained the Coromandel headquarters till 1689, when as a
result of the disturbed conditions in this part of India following

Aurangzeb’s conquest of Golconda, the headquarters was trans-
ferred to Negapatam.
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Hardly had van Wesick taken over when the Portuguese made
two abortive raids on Pulicat, one from San Thome and the
other from Negapatam. The failure of these raids was an jndi-
cation of their waning sea-power. Competition from the English
merchants in the vicinity was negligible, as they were hindered
by a shortage of capital and lack of support from home.

After the tragic end of David van Deynsen in 1608, the
Dutch left Gujarat alone for several years. Though the potential
value of its market was recognised, the Company was miore
intent on concentrating all its resources on the struggle for the
Spice Islands. A few months after van Deynsen’s death, Capt.
Hawkins of the English East India Company anchored off
Surat,

Even though the Portuguese had no fortified settlement in the
town, as they had at Diu and Daman, they still dominated
coastal shipping with their warships and collected licences and
tolls from all vessels which sajled from the Gujarat and other
west coast ports. None of the merchants and brokers dared to
deal with any other shipper for fear of confiscation of goods and
destruction of vessels. Portuguese priests in Surat also acted as
merchants, traders and suppliers of provisions. Van Deynsen had
held out for nearly two years in spite of his staff oeing harassed
and intimidated. Hawkins would have received the same treat-
ment if he had remained in Surat. When he went ashore to meet
the governor, he soon learnt that only on the strength of a fir-
mai from the emperor would the English be allowed to trade in
the town. Hawkins set off for Agra, to the court of the Emperor
Jehangir. His reception was favourable, but his somewhat boist-
erous diplomacy was ineffective against the intrigues of the
Jesuits there, and he returned without achieving his objective.

5ir Henry Middleton met the same fate in 1611, but on his
way home retaliated by attacking Portuguese and Gujarati ships
in the Gulf of Aden. Captain Best, in the fellowing year, was
attacked as his fleet reached Surat. In the ensuing battle he de-
stroyed the entire Portuguese squadron. This was an eye-opener
to the people of Gujarat who had all along believed that the
Portuguese navy was invincible. Possibly news of Middlcton’s
action had also reached Surat, and the governor granted him
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permission to opcn a factory in the city. Regular English trade
in western India starts with the agency opened by Best in 1613.

In the meanwhile, the report of van Deynsen’s death had
reached the Coromandel, whence 1t travelled to Bantam. Both,
who had been instructed to inquire into the circumstances, called
upon the merchants of Masulipatam to look into tire matter, and
the Dutch method of doing so was to attack Mogaul shipping.
Accustomed to the barbarian island chiefs of the archipelago,
they did not realise that they had come under the sway of an
empire which not only insisted on good behaviour, but could
crush petty infidel settlements with a stroke of the pen. The
Mogul however, was powerless on the high seas and realised the
need of averting the vengeance of the Dutch who believed that
one of their countrymen had been ill-used and his property
detained. The governor of Gujarat accordingly wrote to the
Dutch at Masulipatam offering to hand over van Deynsen’s
goods. It was this move of Mukharab Khan which caused the
reappearance of the Dutch 1n Surat. The real intention of the
Mogul governor is shown in a letter written by Nicholas Down-
ton, the English factor there in 1614, in which he says, ‘that he
(the governor) hath sent to Masulipatam for the Hollanders to
come hither, promising them Daman when it is taken from the
Portuguese.’

Gujarat was an important province in the Mogul Empire.
Surat, its commercial capital, was called the Gate of Mecca. The
governor of Gujarat was also the viceroy of the Deccan, il the
appointment was held by a prince of the blood or an infimate
friend of the emperor, such as Mukharab Khan was of Jehangir.
Surat therefore had two imperial officials, the governor or
viceroy who resided in the city, and the commander of the
castle or citadel. Mukharab was a keen sportsman, a skilled
surgeon and a diplomat. He had been chosen as the emperor’s
ambassador to Goa, but because the English had been allowed
in Surat where the Portuguese claimed a monopoly, Mendosa,
the viceroy of Goa refused to accept the embassy. It was while
he was viceroy that he learnt of the capture of four imperial
ships off Daman by the Portuguese, oue of which carried thiree
million rupees worth of treasure. Jehangir retaliated by arrest-
ing all Portuguese nationals in the empire, closing all churches
and forbidding the public exercise of the Christian religion. This
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was probably the last naval police action of the Portuguese.
Hereaflter the control of the sea lanes passed to the Dutch, who '+,
cuarainteed the safety of the pilgrim traffic and undertook to '
suppress piracy on the west coast, in the process of which all

the Portuguese squadrons were shut up in their harbours. It was

the Dutch and not the English who were instrumental in de-
stroying the Portuguese monopoly of the sea routes and their
supremacy of the seas.

On the other side of India, Wemmer van Bercham had re-
placed van Wesick at Pulicat. While he was on tour at Masuh-
patam and Petapoli, the Portuguese once again attacked Pulicat,
destroyed the factory, seized all the goods and carried away
Adolf Thomaszoon®* and six merchants as prisoners to San
Thome. Three other merchants lost their lives in the attack. Van
Bercham tried to enlist the aid of the sultan of Golconda, but
was told by Mir Jumia that they had no jurisdiction in that area.
He however agreed to compound all the import, export and
harbour dues for an annual cash payment of Rs 8,000. Possibly
Golconda had begun to realise that Pulicat would soon supplant
Masulipatam as a centre of trade on the Coromandel Coast. Van
Bercham accepted the concession as #t made the Dutch virtually
the masters of the city.

The raid on Pulicat had aroused the indignation of the raja
of Chandragiri who volunteered to build a fort for the Dutch.
Work on this structure was tardy, so van Bercham decided to
complete it at his own cost. He named it Castle Geldria after
his home town. Shortly after it was completed, the Portuguese
launched another attack on the Dutch settlement, which
was repulsed. They then used indirect means of getting at
the garrison, by sending two slaves disguised as refugees
from San Thome to poison the Dutch. They were caught and
executed.

Geldria played an important part in the affairs of the Coro-
mandel in the century to follow, when civil war caused many
refugees to seek safety there. It almost became a nucleus from
which a new territorial power may have emerged. Even after
Golconda was overrun and anarchy reigned in the Carnatic,
Geldria’s position remained unchanged. The Dutch coined their

*Thomaszoon succeeded in escaping a year later, when files sewn
to mules were smuggled to him,
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own gold pagodas there, much as the English later did at
Madras. Pulicat was favourably situated for trade, being in the
centre of the coast from where Dutch influence could spread
both northwards and farther south. Moreover, prices were very
much lower here than at their other settlements.

Castle Geldria was 535 metres in circumference and its walls
and bulwarks were seven metres in height. Initially it was
defended by 70 marines drawn from Dutch ships, which also
provided 10 cannons and other small arms. Van Bercham esti-
mated that 150 to 200 men were required to defend 1t, as well

as additional armament of eight or 10 cannons, 100 muskets and

150 swords. In 1616, after heavy rains had damaged 1its walls, 1t
was further strengthened by the addition of four bastions on
which were mounted 26 cannons, the garrison now consisting
of 75 soldiers. Geldria and its dependent township had about
1000 inhabitants, and the Dutch community formed 50 house-
holds made up by the marriage of the Company’s servants and
‘free’ Dutchmen to local women.

A1l that remains of the Dutch fortress are two fragments of
its sea-wall and an imposing cemetery, where, on the grave of
Abraham Mendis who died in 1684, may be seen the sculptor’s
impression of Castle Geldna.

In the early days of Dutch expansion on the Coromandel,
Wemmer van Bercham stands out as a controversial figure; that
he was loyal and devoted to the Company’s interests there was
no doubt, but many of his actions attracted considerable criti-
cism. Marcelis, a moody and temperamental man, was also
dishonest. Yet van Bercham condoned his failings because he
had obtained the villages of Kaveripak, Kunnatur and Satya-
vedu. When Schover of Masulipatam was called upon to account
for Rs 6,300, van Bercham exonerated him on his declaration
that the money was stolen from the cash box. Van Bercham
himself was accused of giving large bribes to local officials with-
out the consent of Council and of purchasing an Arab horse for
his own use.

Accounts of all these incidents and irregularities reached the
ears of the acting governor general, Dr Laurens Reael, who sent
Hans de Haze to put things in order in the Indian factories. De
Haze recommended the reduction of the garrison at Pulicat
and that the walls of Geldria should be faced with stone brought
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from Tegnapatam, which was never done, He recommended that
only four or five Portuguese prisoners should be retained as
hostages, the rest were to be thrown into the sea. But when
he chose Samuel Kindi to succeed van Bercham, the latter
opposed the appointment on the grounds that Kindt was sick in
the head as a result of a fall from a window. The Coromandel
Council supported van Bercham’s nominee, Raphael Oliva.

De Haze selected Pieter Gillesz van Ravensteyn of Masulipa-
tam to travel overland to Surat, to trace and recover the goods
Jeft behind by van Deynsen. He was furnished with a letter
written in Portuguese and signed by de Haze, on behalf of the
governor general, requesting the authorities in that city to assist
van Ravensteyn in every possible manner. Van Ravensteyn was
instructed to take over the merchandise, to obtain compensation
for material lost or damaged, and to inquire into the circum-
stances of van Deynsen’s death. He was also to obtain samples
of cloth and the other produce of Gujarat;to report on the extent
of Portuguese influence in Surat, as well as that of the English,
and whether 1t was at all worthwhile to trade in Gujarat.

Herman Barentsz, a Calvinist preacher accompanied de Haze
from Bantam to administer to the spiritual needs of the Dutch-
men on the coast. This is the first reference to a Calvinist
predikant who was required to attend to Dutch settlements
extending over 800 kilometres of the coast. Hans de Haze
returned to Bantam in the following year with van Bercham,
who shortly afterwards sailed for Holland, his dignity untarn-
ished. No action was taken against him in the Netherlands.

Van Ravensteyn along with Hendrik Adriaansen and eight
merchants, left Masulipatam on horseback on 8 May 1615 and
reached Surat on the 9th of the following month, They took up
residence in one of the houses of the harbour master, near the
Tapti River. The first news he received was that Mukharab Khan
was being replaced by the emperor’s son, Prince Khurram, later
Shah Jehan, who had brought with him Zulfikar Khan as his fi-
nancial adviser. Mukharab Khan now realised that he would have
tokeep his promise to hand over van Deynsen’s goods. On various
pretexts, he avoided meeting van Ravensteyn. When he had
departed from Surat, the latter sought and gained an interview
with Prince Khurram to whom he presented a piece of red
velvet, a length of satin and the letter signed by de Haze on
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behalf of the governor general. He explained the purpose of his
visit. The prince assured the Dutchman of all co-operation,
promising to take action against the Portuguese for what they
had done to van Deynsen. The next meeting was with the har-
bour master, who had taken the goods into his custody. It soon
became apparent that the harbour master had no intention of
handing over van Deynsen’s property. He even admitted that
he had sold the lead. After several meetings during which gifts
were exchanged, van Ravensteyn succeeded in collecting Rs 9500
for the lead and an additional Rs 400, probably a part of the
cash which van Deynsen had left. He also received 16 firelocks,
17 pistols, six pieces of lamlet (a warm quilted material}, 75 ells
of velvet (damaged), 18 flasks of perfume, all empty, 10 pounds
of sea horse teeth, 30 packs or bales of indigo, 600 pieces of
‘corneban’ probably carnelian and some clothing damaged by
termites. The harbour master pointed out that the remainder of
the Dutchman’s property was at Burhanpur: about Rs &,000
worth of textiles. Van Ravensteyn sold whatever he could. As
he was about to set out for Burhanpur, Sir Thomas Roe, the
British ambassador to the court of the Great Mogul, landed at
Surat. Since the route to Agra lay via Burhanpur, he accom-
panied Sir Thomas Roe. At Burhanpur he learnt that only a
tenth part of van Deynsen’s goods were available. This was only
to be expected after seven years. Again he sold what he could,
purchased samples of locally made cloth and returned to Surat,
where he made further purchases of the textiles manufactured
there. To avoid paying road tolls if the merchandise was sent
overland to Masulipatam, he requested Capt. Keeling, who had
accompanied Roe from England to convey his purchases to
Bantam, and the captain agreed to do so. Eventually, the

material was loaded, but not until the harbour master claimed
Rs 130 as customs duties.

Van Ravensteyn finally left Surat on 15 December and reach-
ed Masulipatam on 9 February 1616. He reported adversely on
the possibility of doing any business in Gujarat, as the officials
were difficult to deal with, and the Portuguese were still influen-
tial in spite of Prince Khurram’s assurances. He enumerated the
conditions under which a factory could be established and the
difficulties under which Dutch merchants would have to
function. He pointed out that there was a great demand for
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toys, novelties and curiosities in the Mogul Empire.
The trade 1n toys, curiosities and novelties needs some expla- |
nation. Foreign merchants were helpless without the goodwill
of the authorities, for seldom could a request be made without
an appropriate present. The fashion of the time required that
these presents should be toys or curiosities. Van Ravensteyn
described the Emperor Jehangir as ‘an amateur of all rarities
and antiquities, and all European merchants did their best to
aratify the taste of the Emperor.” Some of the articles presented
to him were: drinking glasses or tumblers, cut glass platters, mir-
rors 1n ornamental frames, landscape paintings, portraits,
greyhounds, strong dogs which could tackle tigers, copper lant-
erns and sword blades. In Shah Jehan’s time the Dutch presented
the emperor with copper candelabra worth Rs 20,000 weighing
200 kg, sandalwood, spice, Persian horses, mastiffs, water
spaniels, elephants, hawks, parrots, small monkeys, crimson and
violet velvet, Japanese writing tables, a telescope or magnifying
glass, globes and a suit of armour. Though these gifts were made
directly, many of the princes, Khurram included, were eager to
obtain credit for presenting such novelties themselves. With this
object in view, they would search all imported consignments,
and take over what they fancied at a price fixed by themselves.
Though the toy trade’ was neither extensive nor remunera-
tive, it was a commercial necessity throughout India, and was a
matter that had to be taken seriously. It was an indispensible
preliminary to securing profitable business, as much as the give-
aways and gifts serve to smooth business transactions today.
Jan Pieterszoon Coen, the director general of trade, however
decided that the cottons of Gujarat were a necessity for the
Indonesian markets, especially since their arrangement for
buying these textiles in Achin had broken down. Pieter van der
Broecke of Bantam was sent to Surat in 1616 along with Pieter
Gillesen and three others to open a factory in that city. Opposi-
tion now mainly came from the English merchants led by Sir
Thomas Roe, but the trading community of Surat prevailed upon
Zulfikar Khan to allow the Dutch to settle in the town. Van der
Broecke left Gillesen behind, where he was soon joined by van
Ravensteyn, and returned to Bantam. It is to the lasting credit
of these two Dutchmen that a firman was granted to Gillesen

sttpulating:
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All help and friendship shall be shown to the Dutch and
no more shall be exacted from them for customs, as is usual
in Surat.

That merchants and brokers who sell and buy their goods
shall not be molested.

That no one shall be allowed to make any claim on the
effects of the Dutchmen who die, but they shall be left un-
touched to their lawful heirs.

That no one shall interfere in any disputes that may arise
among them, but that the same shall be left to the decision
of their own chief, who is put over them.

That no one shall be compelled to embrace the Moham-
medan religion by force.

That according to ancient custom, no duties shall be
exacted upon the provisions they purchase for their ships.

That no injustice shall be done to them under any pretext

whatsoever and care shall likewise be taken that none be
committed on their part.

In 1621, van der Broecke, who had some trying experiences at
the battle of Jakarta, returned as director of the western quarter,
that 1s West and North India, Iran and Arabia. He was soon
followed by a number of merchants who travelled overland
from the Coromandel Coast.

The Dutch now settled down to trade in Surat. They had no
territorial jurisdiction or fortified settlement as they had at
Pulicat. They lived as foreign merchants on the strength of a
Jirman from the emperor. This firmain, by the way, was re-
newed 28 times between 1618 and 1729,* and on each occasion
considerable sums of money and gifts were given for the grant
of fresh privileges. This and the changes in customs duties show

how entirely free the Mogul felt to alter or cancel the charters
granted by his predecessors.

*The firman of 1618 was confirmed in 1627, 1631, 1632, 1633, 1634

(twice), 1638, 1643 (thrice), 1645, 1650, 1654, 1657, 1662, (four times),
1664, 1690, 1709, 1712 (six times) and 1729.
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CHAPTER V

The General Rendezvous

Within a few years of its foundation, the Dutch East India Com-
pany had entered into treaties of trade and friendship with many
of the island chiefs of South-East Asia. In India it had two fact-
ories in the kingdom of Golconda, at Masulipatam and at
Petapoli. The trading stations which the pioneer companies had
at Achin on the island of Sumatra and at Bantam in the north-
east of the island of Java, had passed to the VOC on the
amalgamation of the former. Casting round for the weakest link
in the chain of Portuguese influence in the archipelago, the
Dutch were drawn to Amboina, noted for its large and fragrant
cloves. In 1605 they expelled the Portuguese from the island and
took over all their rights and privileges. Shortly afterwards they
seized Banda.

Such a wide sphere of operations required a maritime base
where their homeward and outward bound fleets could load and
discharge cargoes and where the goods of the inter-island trade
of Asia could be collected, stored and transshipped. Many of the
senior officials of the Company and several commanders of flects
had suggested that such a headquarters should be located
in the region of the Straits of Sunda and Malacca, where the
trade routes and the monsoon winds converged. Having failed
to wrest Malacca from the Portuguese in 1606, the Dutch eyed
Jakarta, about 100 km east of Bantam, where the nivalry be-
tween the sultan of Bantam and the susuhunan of Mataram could
be used to their advantage.

The Seventeen in the Netherlands also realised that their
wide influence in so many distant countries needed a supreme
commander in the East, ‘who would act as an authority over
persons and their actions, so as to inspire the princes and peoples
with confidence in the Dutch nation, and also regulate their
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relations with the mother country.” By a proclamation dated 26
November 1609, the States-General created a governor general
and council to manage the affairs of the VOC 1n the East. In a
subsequent proclamation, issued on the following day, Pieter
Both was appointed the governor general of the Netherlands
East Indies.

Annexed to the proclamation were the special instructions to
the governor general, which are worth summarising here, as
they describe the colonial administrative system of the Dutch.

The first article stipulated that on the governor general’s
arrival in Bantam, the factory council there would cease to func-
tion and would hand over charge to the newly formed Council
of the Indies, consisting of five members besides the governor
general. It would hereafter control and co-ordinate all the affairs
and activities of the VOC in the East. Jan Lodewycksz van
Roosengin,* the chief of Banda, was specifically named as one
of the council. The governor general, acting on the advice of the
council, was authorised to appoint such councillors and oflicers
as were necessary to administer the Company’s affairs.

The eighth and ninth articles and also the twenty-first, em-
powered the governor general to extend the activities of the Com-
pany to any area which could yield a profitable trade.

The tenth article set out the Company’s foreign policy: ‘You
will particularly inquire into the relations with all kings, princes
and nations with whom the company is trading, so as to know
whether they are friendly and favourable or otherwise disposed,
and why, and for what purpose each and everyone is so disposed
to the company. You will try to find out which of them are
friends or enemies of the Portuguese before the arrival of the
ships of this country in the East Indies, and how each and every-
one of them behaved towards our nation and towards the
Portuguese. You will further inquire who are the actual rulers

of the affairs of the different states and what are the best means
of entering into closer relations with them in order to be able to
decide what should be done not only to extend the East Indian
commerce, to propagate the name of Christ for the salvation of
the heathen, for the honour and reputation of our nation and

*Van Roosengin along with Willem Jansz were the first Europeans to
discover Auvstralia in March 1606.
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for the profit of the company, but also to increase it by all pOSS-
ible ways and means.’ i

Since the VOC did not possess a suitable headquarters in the
East, Pieter Both was empowered to select Johore or Bantam or

any other place as the capital of the Netherlands Indies and the
residence of the governor general.

Private trading by the officers of the Company was prohibit-
ed and frequent scarches of ships were to be carried out to
discourage it.

Article twenty-two covered the trade of the Moluccas, parti-
cularly in Amboina and Banda, which should be wholly,
absolutely and entirely in the hands of the Company, and no
article of i1t should be left to anyone but the Dutch. Accordingly,
Both was advised to strengthen their fortresses and garrisons
in that region.

Pieter Both was also advised to lease a portion of land from
the susuhunan of Mataram’s regent at Jakarta, with whom the
Dutch had a commercial agreement, and to erect a suitable fac-
tory there.

The twenty-eighth and tw®nty-ninth articles outlined the
actronto be taken against their old enemies: ‘if they should forget
themselves so as to attack you, your subjects or your allies, or
cause them damage contrary to the Truce, you must counteract
the same in such manner as you deem proper according to
Divine and Human Right, always remembering the duty incum-
bent on you of upholding the nation’s honour and reputation
by all honourable means.’

The remaining articles covered details of the China trade.
There was also reference to the death of van Deynsen at Surat
and advice to the governor general that reprisals should be taken
against the people of that city.

Both brought out from the Netherlands, predikants or ordain-
ed preachers, craftsmen and 36 women, apparently to found a
colony in Bantam. He remained governor general till 1614 when
he handed over to Gerard Reynat. While returning to the
Netherlands, his ship was wrecked off the coast of Mauritius
where he perished. The Pieter Both mountain and bay on that
island were named after him.

On the appointment of Reynat, more detailed instructions
were issued covering the port-to-port trade, the type of vessels
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to be used and the frequency of the China runs. The governor
general was advised to periodically change the heads of establish-
ments to avoid any possible misuse of power and position.
Private trading was to be ruthlessly stamped out, and all ships
returning home or trading from port (o port were to be search-
ed for contraband goods. The van Deynsen affair was again
referred to and the governor general enjoined to obtain compens-
sation or to take such other action as he thought fit.

Reynat died at Jakarta a year after his arrival and the council
elected Dr Laurens Reael,the governor of the Moluccas, to act as
governor general. On 21 March 1618, Jan Pieterszoon Coen was
appointed by the Seventeen to succeed Reael. In the third set of
instructions the Council for the Indies was specified, which was
to consist of nine members:

1stmember The most able merchant who can be found.

2nd ,, A valiant and able sailor, a Vice-Admiral.

3rd ,, One of the most able and experienced officers
of the army.

4th ,, A person learned in law and equity.

5th ,, The director general of the offices of trade in
the East Indies.

6th ,, The governor of the Moluccas.

7th ,, The director of the Coromandel establish-
ments.

8th ,, The governnor of Amboina.

9th ,, The governor of Banda.

Then followed the powers of the governor general and the
salaries and wages of all the officials, the governor general, the
director general of the offices of trade and the governor of the
Moluccas receiving the highest, 250 florins a month. Special
instructions were issued regarding prisoners, especially Spaniards
who were to be used only as galley slaves; the Chinese were to

F be encouraged to settle in the Moluccas as they were not only
industrious, but harmless people not prone to carrying arms.
The governor general was once again instructed to select a
capital for the seat of government in Asia, and that peaceful
means should be used to gain possession of such a place.
Malacca was the first preference being traditionally a place
of great commerce and comparatively near to China. But their
attempt to take this city from the Portuguese in 1606 had failed
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miserably, and in Both’s time the Dutch did not possess suffi- -.
cient forces to make a second attempt. On the other hand, if they |
moved {from Bantam, their trade in pepper there would pass

into the hands of the English. So the Dutch decided to retain
Bantam until circumstances forced Jan Pieterszoon Coen, who
became governor general in 1618 to take the initiative in found-

ing the city of Batavia.

From the beginning of the century, the English, though far
inferior 1n resources, followed the Dutch wherever they settled,
in Bantam 1n 1602, in Amboina and Banda in 1604, in Borneo
and the Coromandel 1n 1610, and in Surat as well as in Jakarta
in 1614. Although the governments of Great Britain and the
United Provinces had for several years tried to maintain friendly
relations between their respective Companies in the East, what
really took place there was anything but amicable. In Bantam
there were frequent street fights between the factors and the
stafl of both nations. During the time of Dr Laurens Reael a
sertous riot broke out as a result of some Portuguese and Spanish
prisoners escaping from Dutch custody and hiding aboard a
British vessel, whom the En#ish refused to hand over. The
Dutch retaliated by capturing two British ships sailing to Banda.
One incident led to another with the sultan of Bantam some-
times supporting the English and at other times, the Dutch.

A few months after Coen assumed office, a British fleet under
Sir Thomas Dale was sent to Bantam with the declared inten-
tion of ‘“teaching these Dutchmen a lesson’ and driving them out
of the area. Coen was caught unawares; he had insufficient
soldiers and only seven ships with which to defend Bantam and
their factory at Jakarta whose foitifications were incomplete. The
situation became worse with the arrival of a second British fleet
and the regent of Jakarta attacking the Dutch factory. He called
upon Pieter van der Broecke, the senior merchant of Bantam,
who happened to be in Jakarta, to defend the factory and if
necessary to surrender to Dale and not to the regent, while he
sailed to the Moluccas for reinforcements.

Dale assured himself of the support of the sultan of Bantam
with a gift of 1,500 reals, 10 cannons and 20 barrels of gun-
powder. At this moment van der Broecke received a message
from the regent that the attack would be called off if he received
5,000 reals in cash and 1,000 reals worth of cloth. When the
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Dutchman went across to the regent’s paiace he was attacked
and captured, and according to Danvers, forced to write a letter
to his ‘tweede’ or second in command to surrender the ractory.
Dale intervened by suggesting that 1t would be better to surren-
der to a Christian nation than to a heathen. As arrangements
were being made for the surrender, the sultan of Bantam attack-
ed the regent who in turn set free van der Broecke. The latter
realised that the only course open to him was to defend the fact-
ory at any cost. At this moment the Dutch frigate Ceylon
sailed into Jakarta with Coen on board, followed the next morn-
ing by a fleet of 16 ships.

On 30 May 1619 Coen bombarded the English factory, then
attacked and captured the town of Jakarta which he destroyed
along with the regent’s palace and mosque. Dale retired to
Bantam to defend their outpost there and later put out to sea.
A1l this Coen did in defiance of the Seventeen at home, who
had emphasised that the site of the general rendezvous should be
secured by peaceful negotiation and not by the force of arms.

The governor general wrote of his conquest in exultant and
enthusiastic terms: ‘all the kings of these lands know full well
what the planting of our colony at Jakarta signifies and what
may follow from it, as well as the cleverest and most far-seeing
solitician in Europe might do.” Justifying the force of arms,
Coen added, ‘Your Honours should know by experience that
trade in Asia must be driven and maintained under the protec-
tion and favour of Your Honours’ own weapons; and that the
weapons must be paid for by the profits of trade; so that we can-
not carry on trade without war, nor war without trade.’

The year-long skirmish between the English and the Dutch
and the rivalry between the rulers of Bantam and Jakarta had
caused most of the local people to seek asylum elsewhere. When
Coen captured Jakarta on 30 May 1619, which he renamed
Batavia, he had a capital without a population; ‘from a paradise
the city had become a wilderness’. He was faced with the task
of building a new city and peopling 1t. Masons, carpenters,
market-gardeners, shop-keepers and many other tradesmen and
craftsmen were needed, besides labour. Residences, lodges,
warehouses, wharves and a castle had to be built. The Chinese
were the first to move across from Sumatra and Malaya. They

lived in their own quarters under their own headman. The
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Javanese from other parts of the island followed and so did the
Malayans. From India, slaves were brought at the rate of a thou-
sand a year with lesser numbers from Burma. The growing
population had to be provided with food and clothing, which

the Dutch imported from the Coromandel Coast, from Bengal
and later from Sri Lanka.

Under Coen’s administration (he was twice governor general,
from 1618 to 1623 and again from 1627 to 1629), Batavia grew
rapidly to prosperity, magnificence and importance which made
it both the admiration and the dread of the nations of the Indo-
nesian Archipelago. Batavia, ‘the Queen of the Eastern Seas’,
gave the Dutch a position comparable to that of the Portuguese
1n Goa, a century earlier.

Hendrik Brouwer, one of the few directors of the Company
who came out to Batavia, became governor general in 1632. On
this occasion a fresh set of the instructions were issued embody-
ing all the earlier orders. The council was advised to reduce
expenditure on the maintenance of forts and the repair of ships.
Wedding gifts to young women from Holland at the time of their
marriage in the Indies were abo¥shed. Economy was to be obsery-
ed on the premium paid for slaves; and the giving of presents
to rulers and princes, as well as the funerals of officials who died
In service In the Indies, were to be carried out with the least
possible ostentation. There were also instructions on the Dutch
trade in Surat, Iran, China, Japan and Taiwan and a reference
to Masulipatam, which was to be retained in spite of the difficul-
ties the Dutch had been experiencing in the past.

By this time the governor general and his council had more
or less become independent of the Seventeen and of the States-
‘General. Forceful personalities such as Coen and later van
Diemen, Rijkloff van Goens and Speelman preferred to present
the Seventeen with a fait accompli. Very few of the directors
had ever served in Asia or even showed much interest in the
political situation there. They were dependent on the advice and
knowledge of their overseas representatives, and though at times
critical of the policies initiated by men of expansionist views,
they usually ended up by accepting the fait accompli or by send-
ing the ships, men and money for which they were asked. This
attitude is seen in the cynical observation made to Francois Val-
entyn, a Dutch predikant, when he showed the director general
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t Batavia a written order from the Seventeen, ‘the directors in
the fatherland decide matters as 1t seems best to them there, but
we do here what seems best and most adviseable to us.’

With the expansion of the Dutch sphere of operations in the
East, the council which in 1609 had five members and later nine,
was enlarged to 17 members, the director general ranking next
after the governor general whom he invariably succeeded on
death or retirement. There were five councillors including the
director general, one of whom (after 1652) was the governor of
the Cape of Good Hope; nine extraordinary councillors and two
secretaries. The directors or governors of the Coromandel, Sri
Lanka. Samarang and Macassar were usually extraordinary
members of the Council of the Indies. In addition there were
three ex-officio members, the port admiral, the attorney general
and the water fiscal.

The Council of the Indies governed and controlled the com-
mercial policy of the VOC, the civil, naval and military
administration and the postings, transfers, promotions ard dis-
missals of all the Company’s servants. Preachers and members
of the Council of Justice were appointed in and sent from the
Netherlands, and the governor general’s council had no jurisdic-
tion over them except in the case of transfers.

Theoretically. the governor general had no personal auth-
ority, and was totally guided by the majority decision of the
council, whose resolutions under his signature became acts bind-
ing on all the merchants, servicemen, priests, artisans and others
in the Company’s service, as well as the ‘free’ Dutchmen. Since
the extraordinary councillors had no say in any matter except
the pardoning of criminals condemned to death, the defence of
the Dutch settlements and the election of an acting governor

general, the latter had to deal with only five members, and his
desires and wishes were usually ratified by the majority, for few
would ever oppose him. All of them at some time or another
needed his help, to secure employment for their relatives, to seek
postings of their choice or lucrative appointments in Batavia or
elsewhere. Not all the governor generals were of the calibre of
Coen, van Diemen or Maetsuyker. Adriaan Valckenier who held
this position from 1737 to 1741 had ordered van Schinnen and
de Haaze to be sent back to the Netherlands as prisoners. When
the council opposed him, he surrounded the table with his
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bodyguard and refused to allow them to leave until they had
agreed with his action. It would be of interest to record that
though he was tried and acquitted of the charges of massacring
the Chinese in Batavia in 1740, he was found guilty of gross
miscarriage of justice and executed.

The director generals had complete and independent control
of the Company’s trade, and with few exceptions were men of
constderable business acumen and great administr:tive ability.
In addition to their local responsibilities, the resident council-
lors held overall charge of certain factories and were also
nominated as presidents or managers of various bodies and
chambers, such as Registrars of Marriage, the Orphans’ Cham-
ber, the Bankruptcy Chamber and the Opium Society.

The two secretaries who held the rank of merchant were

mainly concerned with recording discussions, drafting resolu-
tions, getting them signed and issued as acts under the governor
general’s signature. They also wrote out and issued letters of
appotntment, transfer and promotion, for which they were paid
a special allowance. The private secretary to the governor gen-
eral was a man of his own chomxe who was usually promoted to
the position of secretary to the council. There were numerous
clerks and assistants at the government house in Batavia, all of
whom aspired to higher and better paid positions in the com-
pany's service.

The port admiral, one of the three ex-officio members, signed
the sailing orders, examined the ships’ journals and was respon-
sible for ship repairs. The attorney general or advocate fiscal was
the chief law officer, who also acted as public prosecutor; and
the water fiscal or naval provost marshall was the head of secu-
rity, as his main function was to detect fraud, smuggling, private
trade and the like. The attorney general and the water fiscal were
also members of the Council of Justice.

Though technically the Council of Justice was independent
of the governor general, its members being appointed directly
in the Netherlands for a period of ten years, they were invariably
committed to the governor general. On his orders they could be
relieved before their tenure was completed, either to fill a
vacancy as governor or director or even as a councillor of the

Indies.
Batavia, the general rendezvous in the East which Jan Pieters-
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zoon Coen spccially built as a place where Dutch ships could
1oad and discharge their cargoes, and where the chief executive
of the Dutch Company would reside, quickly developed from a
maritime centre to an oriental capital of great splendour and
power. With few exceptions the Dutchmen who came out to the
East belonged to the middle and working classes. The United
Provinces had nothing which represented a traditional monarchy
nor could the court of the prince of Orange rival the dignity
and magnificence of its neighbours. It was not long before
Dutch merchants abroad gazed in wonder at the durbar of the
Great Mogul or of the other great emperors of Iran, China and
Japan.

The display of great wealth and power, pomp and ceremony
was not only the prerogative of an Eastern potentate; 1t was the
European’s method of impressing and over-awing the ‘native’
and showing that they were no less important than the local
governor or ruler. The governor aeneral of the Netherlands
Indics also held court in a manner which several European and
Asiatic sovereigns may have envied. This august personage gave
public audience twice a week, not to hear the grievances of his
subjects, but to receive their acclamation. Not a soul could speak
to him except on matters of the greatest urgency; inaccessible to
almost everyone, no man or woman was allowed to pass his
mansion, and everyone in the street had to stop, bare their heads
and bow deeply when he passed. His councillors, to a lesser
degree, kept up the same state; the harbour of Batavia resound-
ed with the boom of cannons whenever they entered and left the
port. Millions of people in Asia were subject to the sway of the
Council of Batavia, and kings and queens were crowned or
dethroned by its mandates.
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The Dutch East India Company’s Possessions
and Settlements in 1725

BaTAviAa: Capital of the Netherlands Indies and residence of the
governor general. Modern Jakarta.

AMBOINA: Governor. Now known as Malaku;, comprised 10
islands including Amboina, Hitu, Leitimor, Haraku,
Supurua, the Uliasser 1slands and Laut.

BaNDA: Governor. Nine islands including Pulu Run, Banda
Neira, Lontor and Rozengyn.

BANTAM: Senior merchant. West Java on the Sunda Straits.

BENGAL: Director.

CaPE ofF Goop Hope: Governor.

CHERIBON: Senior merchant. 240 km east of Batavia.

COROMANDEL: Director.

GUIARAT: Director.

IrRAN: Director.

Jampr: Senior merchant., Centre of the east coast of Sumatra.

JapaN: Senior merchant. Included Hirado, an 1sland on the west
coast of Japan, near Sasebo and Deshima on the 1sland of
Nagasakai.

KEeraLa: Commander. Responsible to the governor of Sri Lanka.

Macassar: Governor. Southern tip of the island of Celebes, now
known as Sulawest.

MaLacca: Governor. All the factories in the Malayan peninsula
and the east coast of Sumatra, excluding Jambi and

Palembang.

MocHA: Semor merchant.

MoLuccas: Governor. Also called the Spice Islands. They lie
between the Celebes and New Guinea (Irian Jaya) and
include Ternate, Tidore, Ceram, Jijolo, Halmahera,
Batjan, as well as Amboina and Banda, which were under
separate governors.

PALEMBANG: Senior merchant. East coast of Sumatra.

SAMARANG: Commander. North-east Java.
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SoLAR & TIMOR: Senior merchant. Two islands about 700 km

west of Darwin, Australia. Now known as Nusa Tenggara.
SRI LANKA: Governor.

WEST SUMATRA: Senior merchant. Bengkulu (Bencoleen) and
Padang.




Governor Generals of the Netheriands Indies

Pieter Both 1609-14
Gerard Reynat 1614-15
I .aurens Reael 1615-138

Jan Picterszoon Coen 1618-23

Pieter Carpentier 1623-27
Jan Pieterszoon Coen 1627-29
Jacques Specx 1629-32
Hendrik Brouwer 1632-36
Antonio van Diemen 1636-45
Cornelis van der Lijn 1645-50
Carel Reyniersz 1650-52
Johan Maetsuyker 1653-78
Rijkloff van Goens ?

(Senior) 167R-81
Cornelis Speelman 1681-84
Johannes Campius 1684-91
Willem van

Outhoorn 1691-1704
Johan van Hoorn 1704-09

Abraham van Riebeck 1709-13
Christoffel van Swoll 1713-18

Hendrik Zwaar-

decroon 1718-25
Mattheus de Haan 1725-29
Diederik Durven 1729-32
Dirk van Cloon 1732-35
Abraham Patras 1735-37
Adriaan Valckenier 1737-41
Johannes Thedens 1741-43

Willem Gustaft, Baron

van Imhoff 1743-50
Jakob Mossel 1750-61
Pieter Albert van der

Parra 1761-75
Jeremias van

Riemsdik 177577
Reinter de Klerk 1777-80

Willem Arnold Alting 1780-97
Pieter Gerard van

Overstraten 1797-1801
Johannes Siberg 1801-5
Albert Hendrik Wiese 1805-3

The Republic of Batavia was constituted, on the French pattern,
in January 1795 after the revolution in the Netherlands, when
the Stadtholder fied to England. This republic lasted till 1306,
when Napoleon placed his brother Louis on the throne of
Holland. Louis Bonaparte abdicated in 1810.

Herman Willem

Daendels 1808-11

Jan Willem Janssens

1811

Napoleon surrendered on 17 September 1811. By the Convention
of London of 1814 between Great Britain and the Netherlands,
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Java and its dependencies were returned to Holland. Three
Dutch commissioners, C.T. Elout, Baron van der Capellen and
J.C. Busykes arrived to take over from John F endall, the British

lieutenant governor.

Godert Alexander Gerard-
Philip, Baron van

der Capellen 1816-26
Hendrik Merkus de

Kock 1826-30
Johannes van der

Bosch 1830-33
Jean Chretien Baud 1833-36
Dominique Jacques

de Eerens 1836-40
Carel Sieards Willem,

Graf van Hogen-

dorp 1840-41
Pieter Merkus 1841-44

Johan Cornelis Reynst 1844-45
Jan Jakob Rochussen 1845-51
Albert Jakob Duymaer

van Twist 1851-56

Charles Ferdinand
Pahud 1856-61
Ary Prinsz 1861
Ludolff Anne-Jan Wiet,
Baron Siolet van

der Berle 1861-66
Ary Prinsz 1866
Pieter Mijer 1866-72
James Loudon 1872-75
Johan Willem van

Lansberg 1875-81
Frederik s'Jacob 1881-84
Otto van Rees 1884-88
Cornelis Pijnacker

Hordijk 1888-93
Care!l Hermansaart

van der Wik 1893-1904




CHAPTER VI

Gujarat

The region generally known as Gujarat, that 1s, where the
Gujarati language is spoken, includes the peninsulae of
Kathiawar and Cutch. Kathiawar was called Saurashtra by the
ancient Hindus and Sorath by the Muslims. Though the official
and literary language of Cutch is Gujarati, the spoken vernacular
there is a dialect of Sindhi.

The mainland section of Gujarat enjoys exceptional natural
advantages. It 1s a fertile land where many rivers discharge their
waters into the Gulf of Cambayy and various crops are grown in
the valleys between the rivers. It is well supplied with manu-
factures and possesses numerous ports whence profitable overseas
commerce has been practised since remote times. A country so
desirable has necessarily attracted the attention of all the races
which have conquered northern and western India.

Mahmud of Ghazni’s famous raid of A.D. 1024 and the de-
struction of the temple of Somnath provided immense booty for
his army, but no attempt at permanent conquest was then made.
Muslim invasions towards the end of the twelfth century also did
not produce any permanent result. The country continued to bte
ruled by Hindu dynasties till 1297 when an officer of Ala-ud-din
Khiljii annexed it to the sultanate of Delhi. Thereafter Muslim
governors were appointed from the capital as long as that
sultanate existed.

The last governor, Zafar Khan who was appointed in 1391,
and had been practically independent, formally withdrew his
allegiance in 1401. His grandson who assumed the style of Suitan
Ahmed Shah and who ruled for 30 years was the rcal founder of
the kingdom of Gujarat. In the time of his father and grandfather,
they controlled a comparatively small piece of territory in the
neighbourhood of the old Hindu town of Asawal. Ahmed Shah
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extended his territory, spread the religion of the Prophet and
built the noble city of Ahmedabad, adjoining Asawal. ‘“Travels
lers are agreed’, wrote a local historian, ‘that they have found
no city in the whole earth so beautiful, charming and splendid.’
The prosperity of Ahmedabad, according to a local saying,
hangs on three threads—silk, gold and cotton.

Mahmud Begara or Bigarha, Ahmed Shah’s grandson, ascend-
ed the throne in 1459 at the age of 13, and ruled prosperously
for 52 years. He was eminently successful in war, made himself
master of the fortresses of Champaner to the north-east of
Baroda, and of Junagadh in Kathiawar. He overran Cutch and
gained victories over the sultan of Ahmednagar and other princes.

Towards the end of his reign, Mahmud Begara came into
conflict with the Portuguese who had established themselves 1n
Cochin, and were expanding their influence northwards along the
west coast of India. He allied himself with the sultan of Egypt
and the zamorin of Calicut against the Portuguese. A squadron
of Egyptian ships built at Suez reached India in 1507 where it
was joined by the Indian fleet. The combined forces defeated a
Portuguese flotilla at Chaul. But in 1509 the Muslim fleet was
annihilated in a battle fought off Diu.

There were many stories told in Europe about Mahmud
Begara, mainly brought there by the Italian traveller Ludovico
di Varthema. His moustaches were reputed to be so long that he
tied them over his head, and his beard reached to his waist. His
appetite was enormous and he was credited with eating over nine
kilograms of food a day. Mahmud was believed to have been
dosed with poison from childhood and to have become immune
to its effects. His body was so saturated with venom that if a fiy
settled on his hand, it would drop dead. The legend found its
way into English literature, through Samuel Butler’s reference in

Hudibras: ‘The Prince of Cambay’s daily food, Is asp and
basilisk and toad.’

The last noteable sultan of Gujarat was Bahadur Shah (1526-
1537) whose uneasy life was ended by a tragic death at the hands
of the Portuguese. In 1535 Bahadur Shah was defeated by
Humayun, who, driven from his kingdom was forced to take
refuge in Malwa. Mogul pressure forced Bahadur Shahn to con-
clude a treaty of peace with the Portuguese by ceding Bassein to
them. While negotiations for the transfer of Diu were taking
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place, the sultan wvisited the Portuguese governor, Nuno da
Cunha, on board his ship. Both parties apparently had hoped by
some future treachery to scize the person of the other. Bahadur
Shah in attempting to return, jumped overboard and while in the
water was knocked on the head by a Portuguese sailor and
killed.

The subsequent history of Guarat till 1572 is a record of
anarchical confusion, until Akbar laid claim to this rich province
on the grounds that it had been subject to Delhiin the days of the
Khiljis and Muhammed bin Tughluq.

Akbar’s conquest of Gujarat in 1573 gave the Mogul free
access to the sea and all the rich merchandise passing through
Surat and other western ports. The territory and income of the
province was considerably extended and the viceroyalty of
Gujarat became one of the most important posts in the gift of
the emperor. Akbar saw the sea for the first time and came into
contact with the Portuguese in Cambay and Surat. The Mogul
however had nothing which resembled a navy and his vessels had
to pay tolls to the Portuguese who claimed the monopoly of the
Indian sea routes. It was towards the end of Akbar’s reign that
the Dutch appeared in India.

Surat, the Gate of Mecca, was a important seaport in the
empire. Situated at the mouth of the River Tapti, 1t handled all
that the hinterland could produce, though much was consumed
by the Mogul Empire, the Deccan states and the nayaks farther
south. It was one of the most eminent cities of trade 1n India
in the sixteenth century. Merchandise from the Red Sea ports,
north-east Africa, the Gulf countries, Europe, China and
southern India was transhipped at Surat. Goods from Agra,
Lahore and Kashmir were brought down and stored in 1ts ware-
houses. Many rich and influential merchants, traders, bankers
and brokers from all the lands of the Eastern Seas lived in and
carried on their business in Surat.

On gaining a foothold in Gujarat, the Dutch were determined
to make Surat their chief city in India, next to their newly
acquired capital, Batavia. Their only rivals were the English and
the Portuguese. To discountenance their English competitors, the
Dutch accused them of being in league with the Malabar pirates
and of attacking and capturing pilgrim ships satling for Jidda.
They paid higher prices for Indian products and sold European
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goods at a loss in their efforts to hinder English trade in Surat.
Portuguese power which had already begun to wane was entire-
ly broken by the Dutch; as a result Goa, Cochin and Malacca
and many other ports lost their great trade. The commerce of
the Red Sea region and of Iran was intimately connected with
the markets of Gujarat, and Mocha was an mmportant seaport
where Indian goods were transhipped for Egypt and the
Mediterranean. In 1620 the Dutch occupied Mocha. The
Persian Gulf trade was controlled by the Portuguese at Ormuz
(Hormuz) Island near Qishm. Iranian exports to India consisted
of horses, dried fruits, perfumes and a variety of luxury
soods. Silk was an outstanding commercial product of Iran
and the monopoly of the shah. In 1622 the English joined
the Iranians and ousted the Portuguese from Ormuz. It was
utterly destroyed and ceased to exist as a port or as a mart, 1S
commerce being transferred to Bandar Abbas (Gombroon) on
the mainland. Though the Dutch took no part in the seige of
Ormuz, they were able to secure great advantages in the Iraman
markets by the large quantities of spices which they were able to
supply, mainly due to their monopoly in the archipelago. The
demand for Iranian silk continued till about the middle of the
seventeenth century when it was supplanted by Bengal silk.

As a result of the freeing of the sea routes from Portuguese
domination. Goa’s prosperous trade in the Red Sea and with
Iran, as well as with China and the Far East, slumped. The
Dutch openly captured their vessels and took over the port-to-
port traffic. They could blockade any harbour, capture any ship,
shut up any Indian or Asiatic merchants in their ports, and

above all they appropriated the coastal and foreign trade to
themselves.

As early as 1622, Asaf Khan, Prince Khurram’s father-in-law,
accused the Dutch of seizing and confiscating a ship and its
cargo which belonged to him. There was much truth in this alle-
gation, as the Dutch in their search for Portuguese shipping,
captured Mogul vessels or vessels carrying imperial cargo.
Relying on the Dutch navy, the merchant at Cambay took a
high-handed attitude, threatening Coen’s vengeance. Though the
Mogul was helpless at sea, he was by no means incompetent on
land. The factor was arrested and taken to Agra and the factory
closed. It was only after van der Broecke paid a large indemnity
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that the Cambay factory was able to function again. Incidents
Iike this were common in a strong and despotic empire like that
of the Mogul, but they did not prevent the Dutch from making
large profits in Gujarat. In 1624 the first ship sailed directly from
surat to the Netherlands.

Johan van Hasselt, who succeeded Pieter van der Broecke as
director of Surat, in his letter dated 25 December 1628 to the
council, describes the situation in Surat: ‘The moors were not
pleased that the Dutch began to trade in tobacco and rice etc.
which they brought to Persia. The moors complain that we are
taking every trade out of their hands, that we should be content
with cargoes bound homewards, the rich cargoes sent south and
the friendship of the moors should be worth more to the Dutch
than the small trade. The Dutch should moreover assist and
protect them. They complained to the king that we did not give
any profit to his subjects and were here only to seek our own
profit and to turn everyone out of the trade.” Van Hasselt goes
on to say that it would be unsafe for Dutchmen to walk in the
streets of Surat, so unpopular had they become.

Factories were opened in s@veral cities in Gujarat, Sind,
Pakistan and in northern India at Agra. The Dutch factory in
Agra dealt mainly in the supply of spices, and in mercury,
vermilion, 1vory, red woollen cloth and curiosities. From the
region around Agra and to the east they obtained indigo which
was of the best quality, as well as saltpetre, borax and a variety
of fine and coarse cottons. The trade of Agra has been described in
detail by Francisco Pelsaert who came out to the Coromandel in
1620 as a junior merchant, travelled overland to Surat, whence
he was immediately posted to Agra. Pelsaert who became an
expert indigo-buyer and even mastered Urdu, remained in Agra
till 1627, rising to the position of opper-koopman or senior
merchant. He returned home in 1628, was reappointed and sent
back to Batavia in command of a fleet, his flagship being the
Batavia.

The voyage was disastrous. The Batavia was driven far south
and shipwrecked on an island off the west coast of Australia.
Pelsaert undertook an adventurous boat journey to Java, reached
Batavia and returned on a relief vessel to the scene of the wreck,
where a serious mutiny had occurred. He dealt severely with the
mutineers and brought the crew back to Batavia. The story of this

el L



Gujarat 71

shipwreck has a literature of its own. The journal of the voyage
was published 1n Holland. translated by de Thevenot, and 1t
reappeared as the ‘hard-headed Dutch sailor, Capt. Francis
Pelsart’ in tales of adventure published in the last century.

Returning to Dutch affairs in Gujarat, Surat became their
commercial capital of West and North India, Iran and Arabia.
Fourteen factories and agencles were subordinate to the director
of Surat: Bandar Abbas (Gombroon), Lar, Shiraz and Isfahan in
Iran; Basra in Iraq; Mocha in Yeman: Tatta in Sind, (Pakistan);
and Agra, Ahmedabad, Baroda, Broach, Cambay, Sirkhe]
(Sarkhej) and Vengurla in India.

Many of the agencies did not remain long under Surat. Bandar
Abbas, Lar, Shiraz and Isfahan were subordinate from 1622 to
1633, when they were placed directly under Batavia. Basra and
Mocha remained with Surat till 1686 during which pericd the
Mocha establishment was frequently closed and reopened, until
they also were placed under Batavia. The Dutch retired from
Agra in 1720 when as a result of disturbed political conditions in
the north, it was decided to close the factory. Ahmedabad, Broach
and Tatta in Sind were opened along with the factory in Surat
-nd functioned till 1744; Baroda, Cambay and Sirkhej were
~bandoned in 1670. Vengurla, north of Goa had Dutch merchants
resident there as early as 1636. It was placed under the ‘com-
mandeur’ or commander of Cochin in 1677 who was subordinate
to the governor of Sri Lanka.

While Shah Jehan was encamped at Burhanpur, intent on his
schemes to subdue the sultans of the Deccan, a terrible famine
desolated Gujarat and the adjoining regions. There are several
accounts of the famine of 1630-31; the official historian, Abdul
Hamid’s, an English travelier, Peter Mundy’s and that of van
Twist, a Dutch merchant 1n Qurat. The latter account is interest-
ing enough to bear quotation:

‘go little rain fell that the grain sown was lost and no grass grew,
cattle died in large numbers in villages, in fields and on roads, men
lay dead in great numbers causing such a stench that it was terri-
ble to use the ways. For want of grass cattle fed on corpses, some
in desperation searching for bones which had been gnawed by

dogs. As the famine increased, men abandoned towns and villages
and wandered helplessly. It was easy to recognise their condition—
eves sunk deep in the head, lips pale and covered with slime,
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the skin hard with bones showing through; the belly nothing but
a pouch hanging down empty, knuckles and knee-caps showing.
One would cry and howl for hunger, while another lay stretched
on the ground dying in misery. Wherever you went you saw
nothing but misery, you saw nothing but corpses,

‘Men deserted their wives and children; women sold them-
selves into slavery. Mothers sold their children, children deserted
their parents and sold themselves. Some families took poison and
so died together, others threw themselves in the rivers, so that
the rivers flowed full of corpses. Some ate carrion flesh, others
cut up the corpses of men to fill their bellies—men lying in the
street, not yet dead were cut up by others so that even in the
strects men ran in danger of being murdered and eaten.

‘Terrible tragedies were seen every day. We learnt that a
mother had killed and cooked her only son, husbands ate their
wives, wives their husbands, children their parents. Many hundred
thousands died of hunger so that the whole country was covered
with corpses lying unburied which caused a great stench and the
whole air was filled and injected with it. Some of our Dutchmen
coming from Ahmedabad found’people sitting at a little fire
where hands and feet were cooking, a terrible sight to see. In
the village of Susuntra human flesh was sold in the open market.

‘The punishment was not vet over. In 1631 the Almighty sent
locusts, rats, mice and other vermin which brought heavy damage
to the young crops. The heavy rain caused ripening crops to
perish in the fields, flooded rivers caused greater loss in towns
and villages and the country. This famine lasted throughout the
year and pestilence and fever followed, so that scarcely a healthy
man could be found. The dead lay scattered in the streets, corpses
lay for days in houses because men could not be paid to carry
them out. Wood could not be had for pyres and unburnt corpses
were buried or thrown in the river. May the Almighty protect all
Christian lands from such terrible calamities.’

The famine of 1630 caused a break up of family life, loss of
agricultural capital, aimless wandering, voluntary enslavement
and deaths from suicide or from starvation. There were hardly
any measures for state relief though there are references to the
opening of public kitchens, the refunding of taxes and money
being allotted for relief. Overland transport costs increased. Gold
prices fell as more was sold and skilled workers were difficult
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to replace as children no longer had their fathers to guide and
teach them. The Dutch and the English did what they could
to alleviate the lot of their workers by importing grain from
Iran. By 1635 the situation had improved and the Dutch factories
in Gujarat were functioning normally.

Much of their early success was due to the services rendered
by a Gujarati merchant-prince named Virji Vora, whom the
Rev John 1'Escaliot, the East India Company’s chaplain in
Surat in 1664, called ‘the richest merchant in the world.’+ From
1619, Vora, who was a wholesale merchant, broker and banker
or money-lender, is frequently referred to in commercial records
usually buying or selling such varied commodities as cotton,
opium, spices, ivory, coral, lead, silver and gold, practically
everything which changed hands in the wholesale market of
Qurat. His business was on a large scale and syndicates controlied
by him bought entire cargoes valued between a halt and one
millicn rupees. Such large scale purchases secured for him a tem-
porary monopoly of a particular item, such as spices, which he
would sell at a profit of 50 per cent. He controlled the pepper
market in Surat and the coastal trade to a few small ports in
Kerala which were not dominated by the Portuguese. He had
agencies in Ahmedabad, Agra, Burhanpur and Golconda as well
as in the North Malabar and on the Coromandel Coast. He
traded with Java, Iran and Iraq using Dutch and English shipp-
ing. Virji Vora dominated the business community of Surat. His
personal fortune was estimated at eight million rupees.

In 1630 Masih-uz-Zaman, the governor, proposed a business
partnership. When he refused, Vora was arrested and imprisoned.
What the charges were no one knew, but the proceedings appear
to have been irregular. He was summoned to Agra to answer the
charges in person, but such was his influence that it was the
governor who was removed from his post. He lost heavily in
Shivaji's raids on Surat in 1664 and 1670. Anonymous petitions
reached Batavia accusing him of corrupt dealings with the Dutch

factors, but once again nothing came of the accusations. Vir)i
Vora died in 1677,

Merchants like Virji Vora and later on ‘Podemsee’, who
bought a consignment of orient pearls from Iran valued at one

*Sometimes spelt Baharji Borah or Pirji Bo.ah
tIndian Antiquary 1921, p. 312 ff.
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hundred million rupees, welcomed the presence of European
traders. Hitherto not only had Indian merchants been prohibited
from doing business in certain commodities, but their carriers
had to be Portugucse vessels or vessels with Portuguese permits;
many ports were closed to trade and the patrol of the high seas
rendered the sea routes dangerous. The arrival of the Dutch (and
also the English) changed all this, and though the Dutch pre-
ferred to enter the carrying trade themselves, they were not averse
to acting as carriers whenever shipping space was available.
Dutch freight rates being the lowest, Indian merchants invari-
ably preferred to use Dutch bottoms.

By this time, the French, the Danes, the Swedes, Flemings
and Greeks had settled in Surat; yet the most successful of the
European merchants were the Dutch. Their success, to a great
extent, was due to their monopoly of spices in Indonesia which
gave them considerable advantage wherever this item was in
demand. Added to this was their sound administration.

The chain of responsibility in the East was strict, each director
or governor being entirely responsible to the Council of the
Indies for the profitable workihg of all the factories and agencies
under his command. Frequent conferences were held to develop
new lines of business, and periodical inspecttons were carried out
to maintain discipline and to curtail abuses. In the early years of
Dutch expansion in India, the Company’s officers were, with few
exceptions, loyal, devoted and capable which cannot be said of
other Europeans trading in India. By the end of the seventeenth
century Dutchmen started yielding to temptation. The superiority
of the Dutch system was acknowledged by Elihu Yale,* the
governcr of Madras in 1687, who sent the directors of the
English East India Company a manual of Dutch procedure:
‘... as there appears in this, great wisdom and policy, we
recommend to you frequent reading and consideration of what
is contained in these papers, which the oftener you read, the
more you will discover the wisdom of the persons who contrived
thesc methods. . . . Qur design is to set up the Dutch government
among the English in the Indies, for the good of posterity.’

The system of management by committees, that is by the
factory councils, ensured that the Company’s iaterests took

*Yale Universitv, a leading educational institution in the U.S.A.
received its name from Ehhu Yale, who largely endowed it in 1716.
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perference over all other considerations. Every action was
deliberated upon, every incident from the personal behaviour of
one of their own subordinates, the activities of other traders, both
Indian and foreign, to the political changes in the land, were
faithfully recorded and communicated to the superior authorities.
Every year the governor general and council would write a re-
port to the Seventeen in the Netherlands on the state of trade
throughout Asia. Some of these generale missieven ran to over
a thousand pages, with attachments in original or copies of
letters from the heads of subordinate factories to Batavia, or
letters exchanged between chief merchants. Each retiring director
or governor or chief of establishment left a memorandum de-
scribing the trade and other relevant matters of his region, for the
guidance of his successor, and needless to say a copy of this
report was also sent to Batavia.

Dutch imports at Surat were gold, silver, lead, mercury, tin,
and copper; as well as cloves, nutmeg, mace, pepper, ivory,
porcelain, and toys and curiosities. Other articles handled were
benzoin, camphor, areca nuts, sandalwood, cowries, sugar, coral,
ebony, gems and jewellery.

For the European markets, they needed indigo which was
mainly used for dyeing wool. The area around Agra, Delhi and
Lahore produced the purest quality, whereas the Sirkhej produc-
tion was adulterated with mud. Saltpetre was an important
ingredient in the manufacture of gunpowder and for salting meat.
The third item was cloth of all description; other articles of ex-
port were raw cotton and yarn, wax, borax, carpets and
diamonds.

The average profits of the Surat factory from imports and ex-
ports amounted to nearly Rs 640,000 a yzar. From 1662 to 1670
after the Dutch were established in Sri Lanka and in Kerala, their
profits in spices alone were Rs 304,000 a year or 520 per cent,;
and from 1688 to 1698 it went up to Rs 463,000 or an annual
average of 790 per cent. All other items yielded an average of
sixty per cent.

Foreign merchants, including the Dutch, were as wealthy as
their Gujarati counterparts. The Dutch found it useful to impress
the local population by imitating Mogul pomp and ceremony, and
by the ostentatious display of wealth and power. The director

appeared in public in the same style as a noble of the imperial
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court, preceded by a white horse of state, trumpeters and mace

bearers, reclining in a palanquin while servants fanned him with
ostrich feathers.

From Surat great pilgrim fleets set out yearly for Arabia; and
to Swally, 1its anchorage, came Arab dhows, Chinese junks and
Indiamen from Europe, bringing merchants and traders, to trade
In her bazaars. At the time of the spring tides ships of 1,000
tonnes burden could anchor beside the city. It was common to
see more than 100 vessels anchored off Surat, those of the Dutch
being most numerous and those of the Arabs, conspicuous by
their enormous streamers of blood red silk. The customs revenue
of the town amounted to Rs 700,000 a year.

Although Akbar had fortified the city and allotted a yearly
sum to the governor for its upkeep and defence, succeeding
governors had reduced the garrison and appropriated the salary
of the troops. Elsewhere the more wealthy merchants would
hire private guards to protect their mansions, shops and ware-
houses, but in Surat, this custom had fallen into disuse, so
general was the sense of security and so great was the confi-
dence 1 1mperial protection. ?

On Tuesday S January 1664, Shivaji camped before Surat and
sent word offering to spare the city if three of its richest
Mohammedan merchants presented themselves to ransom their
fellow citizens. A reasonable proposal, to which the governor
sent no reply. On the contrary, he lost his head and shut himself
in the cttadel with his guards, and left the town to the mercy of
the Marathas. Panic prevailed in the city as futile attempts were
made to bury or conceal the accumulated wealth of years. Some
scrambled into fishing boats with their possessions, while others
scattered over the countryside hiding in woods.

Shivaji ordered his troops to sack the city from one end to the
other. The only resistance offered was by Theodore van Adri-
chem, the Dutch director and Sir George Oxenden of the English
factory, who barricaded their buildings and prepared to defend
their property. The English even went to the rescue of Said Beg
(one of the three merchants Shivajt had sent for to ransom the
city) by stationing soldiers around his mansion, while the Dutch

gave asylum to the governor. Shivaji was apparently impressed
by these foreigners and made nno move against them. The plight

of those who had neither fled nor who were lucky enough to
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have such guardians, was pitiable. There are many instances of
Shivaji’s humanity—the houses and property of priests were
spared and when he learnt that a certain merchant had been
charitable to the poor with gifts of food and provisions, he order-
ed that neither the man nor his possessions should be harmed and
sent soldiers to guard his house.

Nevertheless. the sack was extremely thorough. Houses, shops
and godowns were looted systematically and methodically. Many
caught fire, and by Saturday night, two-thirds of the city had
been destroved. On Sunday morning, Shivaji, with a booty worth
millions of rupees, was already riding with his usual speed to
Raigadh.

Aurangzeb recognised van Adrichem’s courageous rescuc of
the governor and ordered that for a period of one year, the
Dutch would be exempt from paying customs duties :n all their
factories in Gujarat. Thereafter the duties would be reduced by
one half of one per cent.

Shivaji sacked Surat for a second time in 1670. Three years
later when differences arose between him and the English,
Rijkloff van Goens, who was governor of Sri Lanka, opened
negotiations with the Maratha, promising the assistance of the
Dutch navy in capturing Danda-Rajapur, 1f Shivaji would provide
3,000 soldiers for the conquest of Bombay. Shivaji ignored the
proposal.

The inevitable war of succession followed the death of
Aurangzeb on 27 February 1704. Prince Muazzam the eldest
son, also called Shah Alam, was away at Kabul. The second,
Prince Azam and the third Prince Kambakhsh, who were both in
the Deccan lost no time in asserting their claims. Each proclaim-
ed his accession and struck coins in his own name. The
objective of all three claimants was to scize Agra with 1ts vast
hoard of treasure, Muazzam moved down from Kabul with all
speed, met the army of Azam which he defeated at Jajau, near
Agra, when his brother was killed. Muazzam or Shah Alam
assumed the title of Bahadur Shah in 1707 and in the following
year he defeated and killed Kambakhsh.

Bahadur Shah, already an old man of 69 years, died in 1712.
The subsequent history of the Moguls is worth relating. Bahadur
Shah’s four sons fell out among themselves until Jahandar
succeeded, only to be assassinated 11 months later. He was

Marfat.com



78 The Dutch in India

followed by Farrukhsiyar in 1713 who was deposed and put to
death in 1719. Several phantom emperors were set on the throne
by the Sayyid king-makers, until Muhammad Shah ascended the
degraded throne, surviving till 1748, His son Ahmed Shah was
deposed 1n 1754. Alamgir II who followed, was murdered in
1759, and Shah Alam I became emperor.

Bahadur Shah, who had succeeded Aurangzeb, granted Johan
Grotenhuis, the director, a permanent place for the warehouses
and godowns of their factory and for the residence of the director.
Jahandar Shah granted further privileges to Johan Josiah Ketelaar,
which included the use of Itabar Khan’s mansion as quarters for
the factory staft, who hitherto had lived in a portion of the ware-
houses. It was however stipulated that no part of any of their
buildings could be fortified, no guns could be mounted, and no
alterations or strengthening of the walls could be made, except
for necessary repairs. During the reign of Muhammad Shah,
when Pieter Lawrence Rhoon was director, the Dutch were
allowed to purchase a three-hectare plot of land outside the
Mecca Gate of the city, near Jahangir Bandar for their marine
warehouses and jetties, This place came to be known as Wallanda
Bandar or the Dutch Wharf.

From about 1740 a rccession crept into the affairs of the
Dutch. Competition from the English, the French and from free-
booters, drew off much of their trade; the demand for spices in
Europz had declined, the tea and coffee industries having to a
great extent taken their place. The rise of Bombay as the com-
mercial centre of the west coast had reduced the importance of
Surat. Nadir Shah's sack of Delht in 1737, the almost total
collapse of Mogul authority and the rise of new aspirants to
power—the Sikhs, the Jats, the Rohilla Afghans and particularly
the Marathas*—made trade and the transport of goods difficult.
Other factors which contributed to the decline in the fortunes of
the Dutch Company were the corruption and defalcations of its
officials, which had reached alarming proportions. Moreover
Dutch maritime power had also declined in the purely naval and
economic spheres. Whereas in the first half of the seventeenth
century Dutch vessels had outstripped all their competitors, a
hundred years later, this was not so; larger crews were required

*The gencrals of the Peshwas had formed dynasties of their own.
Damoii Gaekwar bhaving established himself in Baroda in 1737.
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to man outdated and clumsy rigging, and there was no improve-
ment in the science of navigation and the correction of their
charts.

All this was not unknowa to the authorities at Batavia, for
Baron van Imhoff complained, ‘I am afraid to say how things
are with us, for it is shameful—everything is lacking, good ships,
men, officers, and thus one of the principal props of the Nether-
lands’ power is trembling in the balance.” This however did not
mean that the Dutch trade had been reduced to insignificance; 1t
was still impressive, the total revenues of the Gujarat factories
being a little over Rs 500,000. But the recession had set in and
the Dutch middle and working classes were no longer interested
por inclined to seek a livelihood at sea in the service of the Dutch
company abroad.

A series of scandals now reduced Dutch prestige in Surat.
Mynheer Phonsen who was director in 1736 was found to owe
the Company Rs 135,000, which he declared he had no means
of paying. He was permitted to resign quietly and set up as a
private trader. It was later discovered that he had concealed his
assets. When he was expelled from Surat he sought refuge in the
English factory. A few years later van der Laer was accused of
fraud and he absconded. In 1747, Bosman, the director himself,
was expelled by his subordinates for gross misuse of his
authority.

When Johan Splinter Stavorinus, rear-admiral in the service
of the States-General visited Surat in 17795, the city was already
showing signs of decay. The walls of the fort were in ruins and
though the citadel was serviceable, the residence of the governor,
around which were mounted old and damaged cannons, resem-
bled a ‘hovel’. The Dutch director’s mansion within the fort was
still however 1n good condition, but their buildings at Wallanda

F Bandar, the Dutch Wharf, needed considerable repairs. The
Dutch cemetery in the suburbs was well maintained, and like all
their cemeteries elsewhere in India, are the only monuments of
the Dutch standing today. Stavorinus who visited the graveyard
noted that most of the tombs had lofty spires, that of van Rheede
being the most elegant. It was built with the intention of eclips-
ing Sir George Oxenden’s and consisted of ‘a double cupola of
great dimenstons with a gallery above and below, supported on
handsome columns. It was originally adorned with frescoes,
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escutcheons and passages from the scriptures, and the windows
were filled with beautiful carvings.” As late as 1877 an old bill
was In existence cbarging the Dutch company Rs 6,000 as the
cost of repairs.

The tomb of a ship’s butler in the same cemetery showed him
to be ‘a true votary of Bacchus who proved faithful to the wor-
ship of this jovial god even in death, by expressly desiring that
three large punch bowls should be placed at the corners and one
on top.” De Thevenot and later Ovington add, that the surviving
friends of the deceased butler, used to make merry at the tomb,
‘preparing their beverage in the stone bowls and remembering
him there, sometimes so much, that they quite forgot themselves’.

The population of Surat at that time was nearly half a million,
according to the rear-admiral; mostly Hindus, Jains and Moham-
medans, a few Christians and one hundred thousand Parsis,
descendants of the Zoroastrians who had fled to India in the
seventh century. The Parsis maintained themselves by agriculture
and by trade; several were wealthy merchants. ‘They are fair and
do not differ much from the Sganiards, * observes Stavorinus, ‘the
women are still fairer, tall and graceful, have large piercing
black eyes full of the most fascinating fire. Their eyebrows are
black, perfectly arched which added considerable beauty to their
face, the {orehead is high and the nose has an aquiline bend, the
mouth is small adorned with most beautiful pearly teeth, bosom
fully symmetrical, their legs are handsome, their deportment and
gait airy and graceful and their moorish attire loose and gay.’

In 1775, the Dutch employed two brokers, Govindram and
Mancherji a Parsi. This was after they had been *disarmed’ by
the English. The factory was being run as a private business; the
council existed in name only, each member being more concerned
with his personal affairs, than in serving the VOC’s interests.
Defections to the English were a common feature. On several
occasions goods brought in Dutch vessels for export to Europe
or the Near East were sold to the English factors.

The administration and revenues of Surat were divided be-
tween the provincial governor who resided in the fort, and the
commander of the castle or citadel. About the year 1750, Sidi
Massoud, a member of a clan of Abyssinian sea rovers, who had

Martfat.com



WOV JeAE A

Gujarat 81

occupied the island of Janjira, 70 km south of Bombay, sailed up
the Tapti, seized the castle and proclaimed himself its comman-
der. He appropriated one-third of the city’s revenue for himself.
No one resisted the Sidi, neither the provincial governor, the
foreign merchants, nor the inhabitants of the town.

In 1758 the Sidi decided to hand over his command to the
Dutch for a consideration. The plan was that Taillefert the
director, would enter the castle with a body of troops, ostensibly
to free their brokers who had been detained by the commander,
and having gained entry, seize the citadel. Spencer, the English
factor, heard about the plot and bribed Taillefert to remain
inactive. Possibly the Dutch director did not possess sufficient
funds to pay the Sidi, and the cash he received from Spencer,
need not have been accounted for in the Company’s books. In
the following year, the principal merchants and citizens of the
town appealed to the Governor of Bombay, Richard Bourchier,
to take over Surat. A combined force led by Commodore Watson,
assisted by Capt. Poliock of the Bombay army landed at Surat,
took possession of the castle and permitted the Sidi and his
retainers to retire to Janjira. The English now appropriated for
themselves the Sidi’s share of the revenue, and shortly afterwards
took over the government of the city in its entirety.

A few years later the Dutch made an abortive attempt to
occupy the castle, They were fined Rs 90,000, instructed to dis-
pose of their cannon and to shift their goods, possessions and
equipment to Wallanda Bandar. Senf who became director after
this i1ncident, even considered moving his factory to Bassein
which had been taken from the Portuguese by Chimnaji Appa,
the brother of the peshwa, Balaji Bajirao. There was now no
question who were the masters of the city, nay of Gujarat. The
French had been reduced to the status of a consulate, and the
Portuguese were represented by a Jewish merchant.

In 1780 some letters were intercepted by the English authorities
in Bombay showing that the Dutch had agreed to help the
Marathas in an attempt to capture Surat. Stern measures were
now taken to prevent any further interference in the politics of
Gujarat. All their ancient privileges were annulled, their move-
ments were supervised and permits were needed from the English
for the loading and discharging of their ships. Surat’s position as
the foremost city for trade in India ended with the great storm
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of 1782 and the severe famine which followed a year later. In the
Netherlands, only a public guarantee of the VOC’s shares en-
abled it to carry on. Everyone realised that the State must take a
hand in the affairs of the Company, but the United Provinces
were much too shaken by internal dissensions to be capable of
any energetic action.

/23574,
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MEMORANDUM OF THE MERCHANDISE ASKED FOR AND
WANTED YEARLY AT SURAT, AGRA, CAMBAIA AND
SURROUNDING COUNTRIES, AND ITS PRICES

100,000 Reals of eight

100,000 Florins in Moorish or Hungarian ducats, quantity of goid
in bars for the gold soon gives a profit and can easily be
transported without duty or risk

200,000-250,000 1b cloves

(One magn 30 1b Holland weicht) 200-210 mahmudi

40-50 sachel of mace 40-50 .
40-50 picul of sandalwood 25-50 'y
20,000-30,000 1b of 1vory 30-60 '
100,000 1b of lead i '
2,000-3,000 1b of tortoise shell 150-20 Ly
4 000-5,000 1b of China root 10-20 s
1.000-2,000 b of quicksilver 130-200 .y
1,000-1,500 b of vermilion 130-200 '
40-50 boxes of red coral according to its quality —
100 bahars of sapan wood 9-10 ’e
10,000-20,000 1b of spionter (spelter) 18-20 .y
3,000-4,000 1b of benzoin. Good quality 50-60 .e
Camphor 50-60 .o
Tin 35-40 '
Copper 25-26 ’s
Pepper 16-17 '
Wax 30-35

L

Large quantities of earthen and chinaware —
20-24 pieces of fine scarlet —
6-8 pieces of Italian gold cloth —
10-12 pieces velvet —
10-12 pieces of satin —
Gold lace —_—
Some pictures, nicely painted landscapes —
2-3 nice clocks, antique rings for women,

__ nice pearls, fine falchions, 2 or 3 fine

E and large English bulldogs —

This 29 December 1622

signed: P. van der Broecke,
at Suratte.

(One mahmudi=10 stivers Holland)
SOURCE: Dutch Records: VYol. 1V CLXVII
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CHAPTER VII

Coromandel

“The Dutch in their glory laugh in their sleeves at our present
misery” wrote an English merchant at Armagon in 1622, ‘and
much disparage the efficiency of Mr Drake which i1s table talk
among them, and of our small means at present at Masulipatam,
as also in this place, which is very true and not in a tenth part
comparable to theirs, which is much noted among these people.’
A decade later English merchants on the Coromandel Coast
were still complaining of the competition of the Dutch, ‘whose
skill and prudence backed by immense resources have given them
undisputed supremacy in the Eastern trade.’

Although Pulicat was their headquarters on the Coromandel
Coast, they were loath to retire from Masulipatam or to reduce
their establishment there. In 1626, being determined once and
forever to rid themselves of the exactions of the local officials
they decided to bid for the ‘farming’ or governorship of the city.
When this proposal reached Batavia, Pieter Carpentier, the
governor general, overruled it on the grounds that Dutch mer-
chants ‘could not hope to extort by tyranny, the amount required
by Golconda’.

In the following year the oppression of the new governor had
become so unbearable that they decided to break with Golconda.
They withdrew to Pulicat, and from the harbour blockaded

r Masulipatam until the governor was dismissed, and they were
formally nvited to return. In this respect the Dutch possessed
what no other nation had: sufficient strength, mainly sea power,
to threaten an enemy at a vulnerable point without exposing
themselves to any great danger. They were thus able to insist
that the terms of a convention were honoured.

At Masulipatam, there is an area known as Vallandu-palem, the
Hollanders’ suburb, where the Dutch factory and buildings stood.
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Their fortified factory was large and well-built to withstand the
encroachments of the sea and attack by land. In spite of ail the
difficulttes they experienced with the local officials, their trade
there averaged Rs 600,000 a year throughout the best part of the

seventeenth century. In 1660 they opened a factory in the city of
Golconda, whose chief merchant acted as their ambassador.

Lt. Campbell’s description of the old Dutch fort at Masuli-
patam is interesting: ‘the fort was originally built on a patch of
dry ground surrounded by a swamp, which no living creature
but a Dutchman, a frog or an alligator would have selected for
his habitation.” By that time the Dutch had abandoned the place
for nearly 50 vears.

By the middle of the seventeenth century, the Dutch possess-
ed a number of factories on the east coast of India. There was
Bimlipatam, 40 km north of Vishakapatnam and Jagannathe-
puram 150 km to the south; near the mouth of the Vashishta
Godavr1 at Narsapur and at Palakollu were their iron foundry
and saltpetre works. In the delta of the Krishna was Masuli-
patam{Machihipatnam) and Petapoli or Nizamapatam, the latter
near the town of Bapatla. Nortl of the Pulicat lake or lagoon
was Durgarajupatnam, the Armagon of the English, which along
with the villages of Kaveripak (14 km east of Walajapet),
Kunnatur, south-west of Madras near St Thomas Mount and
Satyavedu near Ponneri, were under the direct jurisdiction of
Pulicat. The raja of Chandragiri had also permitted them to
trade at Sadras, an area noted for 1ts fine muslin, and in the terr-
itories of the nayak of Gingi were Tegnapatam (Devanampatnam)
and Tirupapaliyar, as well as a third agency at Kunimedu and
a fourth at Porto Novo on the north bank of the Colerocon river,
the Cuddalore group.

Tranquebar (Tarangambadi) was the chief trading station of
the Danes. Negapatam was still a Portuguese stronghold, but in
the far south, the sethupati of Ramnad had granted them a site
in Pambam.

Through their agreements and conventions with the local
rulers the Dutch exercised a limited form of territorial jurisdic-
tion over the lands and villages adjacent to their factories and
had the right to strike their own gold, silver and copper coins.
These privileges enabled them to supervise and direct the work
of the weavers, dyers, printers, refiners of saltpetre and the other
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workmen and artisans they employed. Their staple commodity
was cotton piece goods, but they also handled indigo, arrack,
sugar, grains, diamonds from Golconda and pearls from the
Tinnevelly coast, in fact ‘any business which may be thought In
the least profitable, to great vast trade of the Hollanders here’.

Along the coast of Kerala, the Dutch had no influence at all,
except for the small fort at Vengurla, north of Goa, which was
actually on the Konkan coast. The Malabar was effectively con-
trolled by a string of Portuguese fortresses.

The struggle for Sri Lanka, which does not form a part of
this account, lasted from 1638 to 1655, when Portuguese influence
on the island was destroyed. It then fell to Rijkloff van Goens,
who had served the Company in many capacities with striking
success, ‘to clean up that whole quarter’, that is, those parts of
South India where the Portuguese still held sway. In 1658 he
captured Tuticorin and sent a mission to the nayak oi Madurai,
mainly to ensure his neutrality in the campaign to follow. Van
Goens then advanced on Negapatam (now called Nagappatti-
nam) which he captured in 1660. Fortified factories were
established at Kilakkari, Mannappadu and Cape Comorin. All
these new conquests were placed under the administrative control
of the governor of Sri Lanka until Negapatam replaced Pulicat
in 1689 as their chief city of the Coromandel.

At Negapatam, an impressive fort was built at the cost of
1,600,000 guilders, nearly one and a half million rupees.
Naarden, as it was called, surpassed Geldria in size and
strength. There is absolutely no trace of Naarden today, and the
only memory of the Dutch is the main street of this city which
some of the older inhabitants refer to as Hollandai Shalai.

Tuticorin was a large and prosperous city. It had a fine harbour
where the Dutch could anchor their larger vessels In the stormy
season. Here they built a ship repair yard, several warehouses
and a small fort. As a result of the mission to Madurai, van
Goens secured the monopoly of the pearl and conch fisheries off
the Tinnevelly coast. From the other villages they collected a
quantity of piece goods which they sent to Sri Lanka.

The only possession left to the Portuguese was San Thome,
now in Mylapore, a southern suburb of Madras. San Thome
(which should not be confused with St Thomas Mount, a hillock
a few kilometres to the west) has been traditionally associated
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with 5t Thomas the Apostle who reached South India in A.D. 68,
and who died at Mylapore. Van Goens was spared the task of
capturing San Thome when the French occupied it in 1672. In
the following year, the French admiral de la Haye, driven out
of Trincomalee in Srt Lanka, sought refuge in San Thome. Short-
ly afterwards the city was overrun and occupied by Golconda,
assisted by Dutch troops. By this time Quilon, Cranganore, Can-
nanore and Cochin had passed into their possession, and with
the exception of Goa, whose influence in India had ceased to
count, the Portuguese era had ended.

The rapid expansion of the Dutch in the south and their de-
struction of the power and influence of the Portuguese who had
ruled the seas for over a century had the effect of instilling a
certain degree of awe in the rulers and princes of South India.
Golconda’s attitude had completely changed and the relations
between the sultan and the Dutch merchants in his kingdom
were extremely cordial. He visited Masulipatam in 1678 and
attended service in the Dutch church there on Christmas day.
Thereafter he invited the Dutch ladies to meet his wives, and as
a gesture of friendship, waived the payment of port dues and
other tolls for one year.

About this time Dutch society on the east coast was shaken
to 1ts foundations by the arrival of Baron Hendrik Adriaan van
Rheede tot Drakensteyn, a member of the Council for the
Indies. His first appearance in the East was as an ensign in 1657
when he was 22 years of age. He took part in the seige of
Cochin and later succeeded Ludolff Colster as governor in
1673. Shortly after he handed over to Jacob Lobo, the Seventeen
appointed him inspecting commissary general of all the Dutch
establishments in the East, with extraordinary powers to reform
the administration and stamp out corruption.

Several officials, senior chiefs of factories included,* were
broken by this ruthless reformer, whose social position (he was
a member of the Utrecht nobility, the lord of Mijdrecht, an un-
usual rank among the Company’s servants) added to the awe he
inspired. In addition to putting down corruption and effecting
economies in the administration, he recommended 1n the face

*The director of Bengal and several of his subordinates were dis-
missed.
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of considerable opposition that the headquarters of the Coro-
mandel establishments should be shifted to Negapatam. The
majority of the Dutch merchants were married and had therr
families with them. The womenfolk led scandalous lives, were
over-conscious of their rank and their demands for jewellery,
clothes and servants led many a husband to supplant his salary
by dishonest means. Van Rheede, as he is generally referred to,
sent many of the families to Batavia.

He died on 15 December 1691 ‘on board the ship Dregenlant
sailing from Cochin to Surat, abreast the English fort of
Bombay’. Van Rheede’s tomb at Surat was built with the inten-
tion of surpassing that of Sir George Oxenden, so large and
handsomely decorated it was, with a dome, columns, wood car-
vings and frescoes,

In 1687 a dispute arose in Masulipatam over an outstanding
debt and before the argument could be settled, Aurangzeb’s
army appeared before Golconda. The country was overrun, the
sultan deposed and the state absorbed into the empire. The
Dutch took advantage of the situation, and on the pretext that
they had been insulted, took nossession of the city.

Justifying this action, Johan Pits, the chief of Masulipatam
wrote to the English agent at Fort St George, Madras: ‘It cannot
be unknown to Your Honour how our Honourable East India
Company for some years on the Coast of Coromandel are abused
and insulted in so many unspeakable ways . . . . Whereupon the
Right Honourable Council of India cannot swallow such innumer-
able and overgrown injuries and have been forced to resolve the
better to come by our right . . . to take possession of the city of
Metchlepatam* and by God’s blessings and the Company’s arms
<o effected that we are now for our Company, this 26 July, masters

of the said city of Metchlepatam, wherein according to our
orders and to the maintaining of our friendship, we shall not
sncommode or hinder Your Honour to imbarque in your ships.’

As a result of the disturbed conditions prevailing on the
Coromandel Coast after Aurangzeb’s conquest of Golconda, the
authorities at Batavia decided to implement van Rheede’s
recommendation. In 1689 the Coromandel headquarters was

*Masulipatam. The English settled there in 1611, withdrew in 1628
and returned four years later.
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transferred to Negapatam. It may be of interest to record that
Aurangzeb’s firman of 1690 to Johan Bacherus of Surat, also
confirmed the Dutch in their possession of Pulicat.

After San Thome had been captured, Francois Martin and
60 Frenchmen were allowed to settle in 1674 at Pondicherry,
136 km south of Madras. For the next 15 years the French set-
tlement there was a thorn in the side of the Dutch. In 169> they
Jatd seige to and captured the city. The Dutch retained the city
till 1697 when, under the Treaty of Ryswick, it was restored to
France. During the five years of their rule, they constructed
fortifications long ranked as the finest in India.

During the last quarter of the seventeenth century, in spite
of the existence of widespread private trading by the Company’s
oflicials, misuse and misappropriation of funds and considerable
expenditure on pomp and ostentation, the profits of the Coro-
mandel group which were around Rs 430,000 a year continued
to rise until it reached Rs 960,000 in 1684-85. After the con-
quest of Golconda by Aurangzeb in 1687 they dropped to
Rs 350,000. Moreover, competition from the English, the French
and the Danes had drawn off a Bood bit of their trade, and the
maintenance of large garrisons ate into their profits. Up to
the middle of the eighteenth century, however, Batavia was sat-
isfied with its commerce on the Coromandel Coast, whose
profits in comparison to their directorates elsewhere were quite
good. Till the end of their influence in India, the largest profits
were recorded 1n the regions where they had not taken up the
responsibility of sovereignty. Surat, Bengal and Coromandel
hgure in the Company’s books with annual profits running into
hundreds of thousands of rupees, whereas in Kerala (and 1n Sri
Lanka) heavy losses were shown. ‘Their strength’, wrote the
directors of the English Company in 1718, ‘is greatly superior to
ouis and all other Europeans joined together, and nothing but
the powers in Europe makes them afraid to prove it against any
or all of their competitors in the trade of India.’

The Danish settlements in India demand passing notice. A
Danish East India Company had been formed in 1614 and four
vears later the factory at Tranquebar (Tarangambadi), 25 kilo-~
metres north of Negapatam, was established under an agreement
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with the nayak of Tanjore. The Danes dealt mainly in spices.
and cotton piece goods and supplied arms and ammunition.
Their principal settlement in India at Serampore on the
Hugli, dates from 1676. The Danish settlements were not
important at any time. In 1845 they were sold to the British
government.

The French appeared late on the scene, their official organis-
ation, La Compagnie des Indes Orientales, having becn
established in 1644. Being more an offspring of State patronage
than the outcome of spontaneous mercantile activity, it had
gradually sunk to the position of a subordinate department of
the State. As a result of the latter’s bureaucratic control, a cer-
tain lethargy had crept into all the Company’s business. Trade
flagged and there was little enterprise or growth. Pondicherry
had been developed by the energy of its founder, Francois
Martin and later by Lenoir and Dumas; but Chancernagore
(Chandarnagar) in Bengal, which province was commercially and
politically the key of India, made little progress until 1t came
under the control of Joseph Francois Dupleix from 1731 to 1741.
The revival of French power dates from the time of Dupleix,
and also Dumas, who in a short space of 20 years, lifted the
fortunes of their country to something like an apparent equality
with that of their longer established rivals, the Dutch and the
English.

By the middle of the eighteenth century a change came over
the destinies of European settlements in India. The English and
French companies began to be embroiled in the international
conflicts of their respective countries, and the effect of the War
of the Austrian Succession in 1747-48 in Europe devcloped the
French Company from a trading organisation into one which
had its eye on political influence in India. At this time 1n the
Carnatic, that wide strip of land from the Krishna Delta to

| Tanjore (Thanjavur), there were three Luropcan cities: Nega-
patam under the Dutch, Pondicherry under the French and
Madras under the English. Each was a place of considerable
trade and reputed strength and each had a large Indian popula-
tion. Behind them the country was divided between Hindu and
Mohammedan, with the English and the French jockeying for
position. The first blow to Dutch prestige on the Coromandel
Coast was when Masulipatam, which they had controlled since
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1687, passed into the hands of the French, being granted to
Dupleix in 1751.*

But decay bhad already set in the VOC’s establishments in
India. To maintain their trade and commerce, a large portion of
their income had to be spent on their garrisons. Their naval
power which had been the despair of not only the Indian princes,
but of their rivals on the coast, had declined. Their astute com-
mercial diplomacy had degenerated to the giving of bribes and
gifts and flattery. Obviously, the Company’s organisation suffer-
ed from grave defects. Its administrative system was outdated,
and its strict adherence, against the advice of all its greatest
governor generals, to the policy of commercial monopoly was a
taillure. The severe subordination of the whole system to
Batavia, and the widespread disloyalty and corruption of its
officials, undermined its foundation. Great as it had been as an
empire builder, and able as it was as a merchant, the Dutch
Company had failed as a colonial power. No longer was the VOC
able to produce men like Jan Pieterszoon Coen, van der Broecke
and Rijkloff van Goens. On the contrary a person like Chris-
tiaan van Teylingen became th® director of the Coromandel.

Van Teylingen, on board the Rotterdam reached Fort St
George, and after the necessary salutes had been exchanged,
came ashore with the skipper and a writer or book-keeper. He
then asked for his baggage to be brought to the fort. While his
personal effects were being off-loaded, a small Dutch vessel
approached the Rotferdam and seized 1t. Later in the evening, a
party from the same vessel landed, and handed over a letter to
the president of Fort St George, stating that van Teylingen had
deserted his post and should be returned to Naarden. For months
correspondence was exchanged between the Dutch and English
authorities, the former accusing van Teylingen of theft and dis-
honesty. The latter had actually assisted the English in their trade
In Madurai cottons and the president of Fort St George was
reluctant to surrender him.

The American War of Independence which began in 1775,
developed a few years later into an European coalition bent
upon the ruin of British power overseas. The alliance of France,
Holland and Spain against England made it difficult for

*It was taken by Colonel Forde in April 1759, who later in the year
defeated the Dutch 1n Bengal.
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reinforcements to be sentto India. To neutralise any combination
of Dutch and French forces in India, the English seized all the
Netherlands’ settlements on the east coast and in Bengal. Surat
had long ago ceased to matter and the commander of Cochin
was too deeply involved 1n defending his outposts against Haidar
Ali to constitute a menace. The peace of 1783 saw the restora-
tion of these places with all their ancient rights and privileges,
lands, forts, factories, bleaching grounds and the adjoining
villages, as well as their trade and their right to strike gold,
silver and copper coins, Negapatam was however retained until
Holland could offer an alternative, which she was unable to do.
Pulicat was reoccupied and once again became their capital of
the Coromandel, but the VOC, now on the verge of bankruptcy,
was no longer interested in their settlements in India. Many of
the factories and buildings were in ruins and had to be demolish-
ed. Others were deserted, and those at Porto Novo, Palakollu

and Jagannathapuram were claimed as the private property of
Dutch individuals.
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Articles of Capitulation for
the Surrender of Pulicat

Articles of Capitulation by the underwritten Governor and
Council on the part of the General Netherlands East India
Company, on account of their inability to defend their posses-
sions, on the summons made by the Rt Hon’ble Lord Hobart,
Governor and President of Fort St George. According to the
resolution of the 10th and 16th instant proposed to the Rt
Hon’ble Lord Hobart, Governor in Council at Fort St George,
by which 1tis agreed to deliver over Pulicat and its dependencies
to the power and authority of His Brittanic Majesty.

ARTICLE IST .
That an exact inventory of all public Approved

property in Fort Geldria at Pulicat, as it

stands on the 15th inst. shall be delivered

according to the above inventory to the

gentleman appointed by the Govt of

Madras to receive it. The said gentleman

granting his receipt for the same.

ARTICLE 2ND
That all books, charters, letters and Approved

other papers belonging to the Hon. Dutch

East India Company shall as a Holy

Depositum not be removed from Pulicat,

but carefully kept distinct in the different
departments to which they belong in the

charge of the present Chiefs or Heads of

those departments; for the reasons men-

tioned in the following article.

ARTICLE 3RD
As there is much arrear in the offices Agreed. That
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especially in that of the trade and in the
Paybooks of this Head Factory since the
vear 1792-93, and the gentlemen of the
Dutch service shall be allowed to bring up
arrear to the present day and it is request-
ed as an indulgence to our Governor that
he may send the annual books and state-
ments &c to Europe and Batavia, as
opportunities may occur.

ARTICLE 4TH

The Governor and Council of Pulicat
wishes to be favoured with an explanation
whether the Dutch Company’s servants
who by the present arrangement are
deprived of their employs; and other
private gentlemen such as free merchants
&c under their jurisdiction though not in
the service are to be considered as free
subjects of the States General and at
liberty to go elsewhere, even to Europe, if
they please, or 1s it expected that they
shall apply to the Govt of Madras for that
purpose. It is proposed also that on
account of the Governor in Council and
other servants of the Dutch Company
being deprived of their emoluments, a
subsistence shall be granted to them.

ARTICLE S5TH

The garrison which consists of 75
sepoys as also their native officers are not
to be made prisoners of war but may be
dismissed and permitted to deliver over
their arms and accoutrements to their

commanding officer who will deliver the
same to the British Commissary.

ARTICLE 6TH

That all the said Company’s servants

attested copies of
such books &c be
sent to Europe and
Batavia, but the
originals remain in
Pulicat, subject to
the inspection of
Fort St George.

Leave will be grant-
¢d unless under
particular circum-
stances by the Govt
of Madras to the
Dutch Company’s
servants and free
merchants to go to
Europe or elsewhere
but any allowances
by way of subsist-
ence must cease
for the period of
permission  being
granted.

Agreed

Agreed
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and other inhabitants of Pulicat and its
subordinate Company’'sfactoriesas well as
Europeans shall retain the right of private
property of every description without be-
ing molested in any manner.

ARTICLE 7TH
That all the said servants and others Whatever may be

under the government of Pulicat shall be done upon this arti-
granted permission to trade on equal cle must be subject
terms and enjoy the same immunities as  for future considera-
His Brittanic Majesty’s servants in India. tion. It cannot be
admitted as part of
the Capitulation.

ARTICLE 8TH
The cash belonging to the orphansand Agreed. But hable

that which the Vestry has charge of for to the control of
the Consistory, being money collected by government.
private charity shall be of cburse con-

sidered as Private Property and shall

rermain under the administration of those

whom they have entrusted.

ARTICLE 9TH
The above Consistorial Fund having Agreed

been found insufficient to maintain the
widows and other indigent persons, pro-
per objects of that charity, the Dutch
Company have since 1st January last,
contributed to their support, 37%
pagodas per month—the objects of the
above charitable donation are strongly
recommended to the humanity of the
British people. Proper information will be
given of the particulars of the station of
these poor people.

ARTICLE 10TH
The exercise of Divine Service such as Approved
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hitherto prevailed in the Dutch ports and
Malabar churches shall be permitted to
be performed in the usual places.

ARTICLE 11TH

That all civil causes shall be decided
according to the Dutch laws and regula-
tions of the Dutch Company, by the same

gentlemen who now compose the Court
of Civil Judiciature.

ARTICLE 12TH

The Vendumaster, the Curator Adlites
(administrator of the estates of those
Company’s servants who die intestate)
and the Sequestrator (the person with
whom such sums are deposited and who
administer to those who die insolvent) do
keep their right to summons before the
above Court and proceed as by law
directed, against all who are deficient in
paying the cash belonging to the various
departments, and the said Court shall

have every protection and support of the
British Government in the exercise of
their lawfu! functions.

ARTICLE 13TH

The Secretary of the Political Depart-
ment as aiso his deputy in the capacity of
Sworn Clerk and secretary of the above
Court shall be continued in the exercise
of his office of Notary and that the same
be granted to the secretaries or other

authorised persons in the subordinate
factories.

ARTICLE 14T1H

The Publick Notarial deeds already
entered, registered and passed by the

Until the King’s
pleasure be known.,

Approved

Approved

Approved
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above mentioned officer in belalf of indi-
viduals for their safety and security should
remain as secret documents that officers
are entrusted with, and of which deeds no
person may require inspection or copy
except in cases in which the Sovereign or
Magistrate are concerned, whose com-
mands as well as those of the above Civil
Court, the Notary is to obey.

ARTICLE | 5TH
The Company’s interpreter named Unnecessary and
Mandelelum Venkatachellum Naiq, the 1nadmissible.
Bramin named Coupiah and merchants
not subject to any other jurisdiction, but
that of the Dutch Company, consequent-
Iy not amenable to the Nabob’s Court and
to that of his Dewan should be gntitled to
the privileges mentioned in Articles 6th
and 7th, and the two former do keep their
usual ways or shall receive subsistence as
serving both for the affairs of the Dherbar
and for the explanation of the Dutch
Company’s rights and privileges, customs
and usages at Pulicat in case any dispute
should happen about this withthe Nabob’s
Dewan here.

ARTICLE 16TH

The duties of Pulicat collected by the This will be a sub-
Nabob of which the Dutch Company are ject of arrangement
entitled to a share, and not paid up by between the British
him to a date later than 31 August 1794, Government and
and therefore this arrear and what is the Nabob of the
further to be collected shall be duly paid Carnatic.
to the British Commussary.

ARTICLE 1 7TH

The Company’s villages, Erikan, This suggestton will
Manguvauk, Aurevauk, as also the pieces be attended to, but
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of ground named Ranatoray being public- cannot be admitted
ly rented once every three years were on as an article of the
Ist September 1794 rented to Magadalla Capitulation.
Ramayah for the sum of 785 star-pagodas

per annum for which amount he 1s to be

yearly responsible, and it is proposed that

the above farm given on the faith of the

Dutch Company, should be continued to

the said renter, his paying his rent to the

British Government.

ARTICLE 18TH

To the Chiefs of the Dutch Company’s Agreed
factories on the Coast of Coromandel,
shall be sent a copy of these articles and
they shall be directed to draw out their
Capitulation and deliver over the factory
and castle on the terms here stipulated.

ARTICLE 19TH

To prevent all misunderstanding and Agreed
to insure punctual performance of these
conditions, the above articles be written
twice 1in Dutch and twice in English and
signed by and delivered to the contracting
partics on both sides.

Pulicat, 16 July 1795.

Hobart Jakob Eilbracht
Edwd. Saunders Fk. Wm. Bloeme
| E.W. Faliofield H M. Hasz

I. Hanter Visscher
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CHAPTER VII

Factory and Fort

The Dutch factorijen and the English ‘factories’, whether forti-
fied or not, were descended from the Portuguese trading
agencies or feitorias, which were scattered along the African and
Asian coasts, beginning with the castle erected at Argium in
Morocco in 1445 and ending with the feitoria at Nagasaki in
Japan in 1570. The feitorias had much 1n common with the
medieval fondachi, the residential quarters of Genoese and Vene-
tian merchants in the Muslim seaports of North Africa and
Ottoman harbours. In fact, at Pedda Ganjam in the Krishna
district of Andhra Pradesh, tradition associates a mound called
farangi dibba (the foreigners mound) with Genoese or Italian
traders who had established a settlement there in A.D. 1224.
From remote antiquity foreign merchants had lived and
traded in India. The rulers and princes of the maritime states in
the south were familiar with the institution of, what has been
called, mercantile extra-territoriality, and had allowed Arabs
and Iranians, Malayans, Indonesians and Chinese to live 1n
separate residential districts, each under the administration of
their own headman. Such settlements were governed by a special
agreement with the local ruler, and the position of these foreign
merchants, traders and artisans was determined by the terms of
the convention, rather than by the ordinary laws of the land.
Not only in India but in many Asiatic seaports, from the Per-
sian Gulf to the South China Sea, foreign traders lived in these
more or less autonomous residential quarters. Some attained
great wealth and influence. Others were at the mercy of the ruler
or his governor, who could take their daughters for his harem
or seize his estate when he died. They were also exposed at times
to the unreasonable exactions of local officials or to the malice
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of rival traders or of the mob. Foreign merchants accommoda-
ted themselves to these hazards. When circumstances permitted,
they fortified their factories for the greater security of their
persons and goods in a potentially hostile environment.

The first Portuguese settlements in India did not conform to
the traditional institution of extra-territoriality, because they
were more than commercial. Early commanders insisted on
territorial concessions, or they seized territory, not as merchants,
but in the name of the king of Portugal. The only exceptions
were their settlements at Hugli and San Thome, but it was not
long before they exceeded the terms of the agreement, and rely-
ing on their formidable naval power, assumed sovereignty. A
Portuguese captain summarised their stand by explaining to the
rani of Attingal in 1519 that the king of Portugal did not build
forts in India to conquer territory, but merely to protect his
merchandise on the seashore,

When de Albuquerque reached Malacca, the greatest seaport
in the Far East, in 1511, the city had several settlements of mer-
chants. His arrival caused a divergence of interest among these
communities; the Chinese and $he Javanese willingly admitted
them but the Mohammedans from the west coast of India and
their Malayan co-religionists opposed the establishment of a
Portuguese settlement. The predominating influence of the
sultan led to the outbreak of hostilities (which would have taken
place sooner or later). De Albuquerqgue effected a settlement by
the force of arms and the city passed into Portuguese possession
under whom the old privileges of foreign merchants gradually
disappeared. The position in Calicut, an equally great seaport
in India, was similar. The zamorin’s subjects welcomed the
Portuguese while Arab and Egyptian merchants opposed them.

Towards the end of the sixteenth century, the Dutch revolt
against Spanish oppression was transferred to Portugal when the
crowns of the two kingdoms were combined in the person of
Philip 11. The closure of the Iberian ports in 1585, 1595 and 1597
and the confiscation of their cargoes, compelled the Dutch to
seek the sources of the oriental goods which the Portuguese
brought to Europe. While the Dutch had attained a considerable
degree of efficiency as shipbuilders and mariners, a long period
of absence of any serious competition had resulted in Portugal
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turning out unwieldy ships of poor design, a large number of
which were lost at sea. The Dutch fluit was comparatively inex-
pensive to build; it carried a bulky cargo, mounted few or no
guns and was manned by relatively few hands. It was eminently
superior to the large ungainly galleons which sailed from
Lisbon. Portugal was unable to replace her losses at sea or (o
produce the crews to man the few which returned, as her man-
power had been exhausted in defending her pOSsSEsSicns In
Africa, Asia and South America and her resources squandered
by Philip II in his attempts to establish supremacy in kEurope.
Her claim to be the lords of ‘the conquest, navigation and com-
merce of Ethopia, India, Arabia and Persia’ was no longer
effective. Her navy was no match for the armed merchantmen
from the Netherlands who openly attacked them on the high
seas and interrupted their communications between ports.
Moreover the conflict between the viceroy and the ecclesiastical
autiiorities, the corruption of the captains and commanders and
the general collapse of its colonial administration, indirectly
contributed to the rapid success which the Dutch achieved when
they reached the East Indies.

The Dutch, who followed the Portuguese in India a century
later, adapted themselves to the system of extra-territoriality
prevailing in the south. They obiained a place where their
merchants could reside and their goods could be stored, and
negotiated a special arrangement in regard to customs duties and
port dues. They were permitted to retain jurisdiction over their
own nationals as well as over the Indian workmen they employ-
ed. Gradually they modified the terms of these conventions to
include a monopoly of the trade to the exclusion of all others.
Being apt to feel insecure in an environment which they did not
understand, among people whose language few could speak and
whose religions and customs they regarded with contempt, they
began to fortify their factories and defend their harbours.

On the Coromandel this was necessary, for the Portugucse
regularly raided their establishments, on several occasions carry-
ing away their merchants as prisoners. The English, who
followed the Dutch like gadflies wherever they settled to trade,
were competitors though not serious rivals. It therefore became

expedient that the Dutch should gain preferential trading rights
over them.
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The Dutch were not great builders of castles, forts and man-
stons. They preferred to take over existing structures and modify
them. Their factories on the Coromandel were fortified by
erecting a thick wall around their property, which was usually
surrounded by a ditch, the earth from the ditch being used to
construct the wall. The garrison consisted of men taken off their
ships, one or two of which would remain anchored in the har-
bour. The first fortress which they built in India was Castle
Geldria at Pulicat, 535 metres in circumference, with walls seven
metres 1n height. On its ramparts and bastions were 36 cannons.
Van Bercham, who built Geldria, estimated that 200 men were
requircd to defend it. Naarden, the ‘castle with the golden
walls’ at Negapatam, cost 1,600,000 guilders; it was said to
surpass Geldria in size and strength, for even towards the end
of Dutch influence on the east coast, Naarden was defended by
over a thousand men of which 184 were marines.

The Dutch considered that there was nothing more magni-
ficent than their fortified factory at Chinsura in Bengal, with its
high stone walls, its moat filled with water and the many cannons
on ijts walls. How the Mogul allowed them to fortify the
Chinsura factory, which the Dutch named ‘Castle Gustavus’,
and nottheir factory at Surat is difficult to understand. They were
extremely proud of Gustavus, ‘the largest and completest fac-
torie in Asia’. None of these Dutch castles stand today. By the
end of the seventeenth century, when orders were given to
economise on expenditure, the fortresses were first to suffer.
Garrisons were reduced and only essential repairs were carried
out. When the British took over these Dutch buildings in 1781
to prevent them falling into the hands of the French, many were
dilapidated and had to be demolished. It is only those forts
which they had taken over from the Portuguese, like the drab
and dingy Fort Cochin, which still stand.

In powerful empires like that of China, Japan, Iran and that
of the Mogul, no foreigner was ever allowed to establish a posi-
tion by building a fort. In Surat, the Dutch lived and behaved as
merchants on the strength of an imperial firman. Their buildings
were rented, no part of which could be fortified and mounted
with guns. But backed by their sea-power they ensured that
their nationals and property were safe, for none of the Indian
princes nor the Mogul had anything which resembled a navy.
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If the Dutch felt that any of their people were ill-treated, they
retaliated by blockading harbours and attacking shipping until
redress was obtained.

A remarkable exception to the normal treaty relationships
between Furopean and Asiatic powers was the Dutch-Iraman
Treaty of Trade and Friendship of 1631. Itstipulated that [ranian
erchants in the Netherlands would not only be treated on equal
status as Dutch citizens, but they would be given special com-
mercial and judicial privileges. The States-General granted these
generous conditions because they knew that Iran had no ocean-
going vessels and the land routes being blocked by hostile Turkey
and Russia, the prospect of any Iranian merchants establishing
themselves in the Netherlands was exceedingly remote.

As their activities and influence in the East expanded, the
Seventeen realised the need of a ‘general rendezvous’ where
their homeward and outward bound fleets could load and un-
load cargo, and where the goods from the intermediary ports of
Asia could be collected, stored and transhipped. A headquarters
was necessary to control and coordinate their numerous agencies
and factories in coastal Asia. Jakarta, which Jan Pieterszoon Coen
seized on 30 May 1619 and renamed Batavia, became the stra-
tegic, administrative and economic centre of all their possessions
from the Cape of Good Hope to Timor, north of Australia.
By the middle of the seventeenth century their seaborne empire
included Mauritius: Sofala in Mozambique; Mocha in Yemen;
Basra in Iraq; Bandar Abbas, Lar, Shiraz, and Isfahan in Iran;
Tatta in Pakistan: several factories and agencies in India; trading
stations in Bangladesh, Burma, Thailand, Vietnam, Laos and
Kampuchea; Castle Zeelandia on the island of Formosa or
Taiwan: two factories in China; Hirado and Deshima on the
island of Nagasaki in Japan; several factories in Borneo, the

Celebes, Malaysia, Indonesia, the Moluccas and all the other
important islands in the archipelago.

All that was needed to complete their mastery of the com-
merce of the Indian Ocean was Sri Lanka, which they gained
when the Portuguese were expelled from the island in 1658.
Within the next five yvears they ousted their old enemies from
the southern Coromandel Coast and from Kerala. By 1663 all the
Portuguese possessions in India, with the exception of Goa,
Daman and Diu, had passed to the Dutch. In the meanwhile,
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Jan van Riebeeck planted the Dutch flag at the Care of Good
Hope in 1652. Although Batavia was the general rendezvous and
capital of the Netherlands Indies, the vovage to Holland was
lnﬂg and arduous and mzrny vessels were damaged on the long
Journey home. The Cape colony which started as a victualling
station soon became important as a transhipment point for
piece goods and textiles which were traded along the east coast
of Africa, Arabia and Iran, as well as a convenient place for
repairing ships.

The principle of civilian control was the corner-stone of the
Company’s service. The senior position in any establishment
was invariably held by a merchant with the rank of opper koop-
man (senior merchant) even in a strongly garrisoned settlement
like Pulicat. Some of the smaller agencies were manned by two
or three Europeans, whereas in a fortified harbour or in a head-
quarters of a directorate there may be well over a hundred
mercantile staff, all of whom were subordinate to and deperdent
on the chief, be he a senior merchant, a commander or a direc-
tor. The chain of subordination was strict, and the duties of the
factory staff which varied according to their number and the
importance of the place, weré clearly defined. The senjor mer-
chant or chief factor was also the president of his factory council.
Any decision, action or activity needed the majority vote of the
council to be implemented. In the larger establishment, particul-
arly in those arcas where the Dutch had jurisdiction over the
nearby viilages, several officers had te be appointed to manage
the civic administration, as in Chinsura, and to command the
armed forces. All the officers in charge of non-mercantile de-
partments, such as the fiscal or sheriff, the captain of the militia
or the fleet commander were granted merchant rank. Though
mcmbers of the council, they acted as advisers and had no
executive vote.,

Although the majority of Dutchmen were reluctant to serve
the VOC if they could earn a livelihood at home, the prospect of
making money abroad brought many Europeans to Amsterdam,
who took service in Dutch Indiamen. Periodically the Seventeen
enacted that foreigners should not be employed, and no Roman
Catholics be taken on in any capacity whatsoever. But the
ruling remained a dead letter from the start, as there were never
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enough Dutchmen to fill the commercial, naval and mlitary
appointments in the Company. Norwegians, Danes, Germans,
Poles, Swiss, Flemings and Englishmen signed on for service in
the Indies. Francois Caron, a Frenchman who joined as a ship’s
cook, rose to become the director general of trade at Bataviain
1647, before he turned over to the French Company, 20 years
later.

As early as 1622, barely three years after the founding of
Batavia, there were 143 foreigners in the garrison there, 60 of
whom were Germans. Batavia never seemed to have sufficient
Dutchmen to man its services. Isaac de St Martin, a French
Huguenot was the commander of the garrison from 1688 to
1698, and by 1710 the troops there were almost entirely
Germans, Poles and Swiss. Out of some 60 men sentenced 1n
a series of naval courts-martial in the South China Seas in
1622-23, 18 were foreigners, including Swiss, Britons, Flemings,
French and one Japanese.

Eight years after van Riebeeck founded the colony, the
Cape of Good Hope garrison consisted almost entirely of
Englishmen; J.T. Rhenius of Berlin was governor of the Colony
from 1728 to 1740. Towards the end of the eighteenth century
the VOC had to recruit two complete regiments in Europe, the
German Wurttemburg and the Swiss De Meuron, for service
in the East, mainly for the defence of Sri Lanka.

In India, several Gujaratis, Bengalis and Tamilians, as well
as people from the Konkan and Malabar Coasts were employed
in the VOC’s subordinate services. A man like Bawan Prabhu
was the boek-houder or book-keeper in Cochin. Govindram and
Mancherji in Surat were not full-time servants of the Company.
In Chinsura, Bengali clerks were appcinted on Rs 25 a monto,
provided they had a good hand and could copy Dutch accu-
rately. Masulipatam, Pulicat and later Negapatam employed a
comparatively large number of local people &s book-keepers
and writers, in addition to craftsmen.

The division of duties among the factory personnel depended
on the size of the staff and the importance of the place. In one
of the smaller agencies in the Coromandel in the seventeenth
century, the chief merchant or opper hoofd who carried the
style of senior merchant or opper koopman dealt with local
merchants, ordered textiles, received payments, authorised the
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cashier to make payments and kept the money chest. The

tweede or second in seniority kept the trading account, super-

vised the warehouses or godowns, helped inspect the goods

received and invoiced them for export. All outgoing correspon-

dence had to be signed by the chief and the second after Janssen

introduced this as standard procedure in the Coromandel in

1610, and it was adopted in all their establishments. All in-
coming official letters had to be opened by the chief merchant
and the rweede as well. The third merchant, if there was one,
was employed in buying goods in the interior and for any other
duty. Assistants, clerks and writers functioned under the super-
vision of their superiors. In Bengal, where the Dutch were
granted the villages of Chinsura and Baranagar as jagir the
factory staff was much larger, for in addition to the regular
merchants, officials were appointed to supervise the jetties and
wharves, enforce law and order, detect smuggling and carry on
the administration of the townships. The next in seniority at
Chinsura was the chief merchant of Kassimbazar, who held the
rank of senior merchant. The third was the chief administrator,
also with the rank of senior merchant, who performed functions
similar to that of the director Eeneral of trade in Batavia, on a
much smaller scale. The superintendent of the Walk or Cloth-
room, a merchant by rank, assisted by a junior merchant or
onder koopman and one or two book-keepers, received, inspect-
ed, sorted, packed and despatched all goods supplied by local
merchants, and also dealt with the brokers. Chinsura had a
chief of the militia, whose command extended over the naval
personnel as well. He ranked next after the administrator, had
the same rank, but no executive vote on the council.

The fiscal or sheriff was also the mayor and held the rank of
merchant. The fiscal not only maintained law and order but
also watched the Company’s interests in respect of theft, fraud
and smuggling. As the mayor he settled disputes among the
local inhabitants of Chinsura, awarded sentences and punish-
ments. Other officials were the controller of equipment who was
and usually a marine officer, the purveyor and the secretary of
the factory council.

In India the nature of trade, whether seaborne or agricultural,
was scasonal and dependent on the monsoons and the monsoon
winds. Most of the factories would be busy during the season,

Martfat.com



Factory and Fort 109

but once the ships were loaded and despatched, there was not
much to do till the following season, other than dispose of
unsold goods, as and when the opportunity presented itself,
and collect merchandise before the next flcet arrived. Most of
the goods were shipped to Batavia, though ships did sail
directly from Masulipatam and Surat to Holland. Sailings from
the Netherlands followed a fixed pattern—the outward bound
Indiamen usually left in three fleets: the Kermis (fun) fleet sailed
in September, the Christmas fleet in December or early January
and the Easter fleet in April or May. The Kermis flect was the
most important as it reached Batavia in March or April 1n
time to tranship cargoes for Japan, China and the Bay of
Bengal. Homeward bound Indiamen usually left Batavia in two
fleets, the first in December and the second in February or
March. The voyage in either direction took about six months,
longer voyages not being uncommon.

In the larger stations the average Dutchman or Company’s
servant rose early and started work at eight o’clock in the
morning. He broke off at 11 or 11.30, lunched at midday, had
his afternoon nap till four o’clock, and then he returned to
work. By 6 p.m. most of the business of the day ceased. The
authorities in Batavia repeatedly advised the staff in India to
observe the hours of work followed there, i.e., from 6 to 